

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2023

# High School Language Arts Teachers' Perceptions of Students' Motivation to Learn in a Project-Based Learning Class

Elizabeth Merrell Gross Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

# Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Elizabeth Merrell Gross

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Amy Adcock, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. Michael Marrapodi, Committee Member, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2023

# Abstract

High School Language Arts Teachers' Perceptions of

Students' Motivation to Learn in a Project-Based Learning Class

By

Elizabeth Merrell Gross

MFA, National University, 2006

BA, Roberts Wesleyan College, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

November 2023

Abstract

Project-based learning (PBL) is a widely used methodology in the sciences for grades K-12. Forward-thinking instructors are also implementing PBL by creating student-led learning opportunities in other subjects. There is, however, a lack of research on teacher perceptions of PBL as a motivational factor in high school. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. Keller's model of motivation focusing on attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction (ARCS) was the conceptual framework for this study. Nine language arts teachers participated in interviews, which were coded and analyzed to better understand student motivation in a PBL language arts class. Four themes emerged from this study: (a) attention/engagement - students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning; (b) relevance – students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important, often related to current social issues and local community needs; (c) confidence – students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience; and (d) satisfaction students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community. Using PBL as a classroom design may promote positive social change through greater student engagement with student-led projects.

High School Language Arts Teachers' Perceptions of Students' Motivation to Learn in a Project-Based Learning Class

By

Elizabeth Merrell Gross

MFA, National University, 2006

BA, Roberts Wesleyan College, 1989

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Education

Walden University

November 2023

# Dedication

I dedicate this study to my children Matt, Todd, Ben, Amber, Joey, Jessamyn, Isaiah, Faith, and Trea, and to my grandchildren Kingston, Jude, Declan, Barrett, Easton, Lennox, Cecilia, Eden, and Hollyn. Your love and unfailing support have always been a constant source of encouragement. I also dedicate this study to Wallace, whose stalwart belief in me continues to give me strength to press on, even though he is no longer present on this earth. Finally, I offer heartfelt praise and a prayer of thanksgiving to Jesus Christ, my Lord and Savior, Who made all the difference in my life.

# Acknowledgements

I am very thankful to Dr. Amy Adcock who guided and encouraged me on this journey. I want to thank Dr. Michael Marrapodi for his gentle nudges to get me back on track. Both Dr. Adcock and Dr. Mike encouraged me to believe that I was capable of getting this work done. My committee members helped make me a stronger, more confident woman.

I gratefully acknowledge my sister, Sarah, who went above and beyond to see me through this entire experience. Emery, Martie, Elaine, Caryn, and Tiffany also provided invaluable help. I offer the deepest appreciation to all the other friends, family members, students, and participants who greatly contributed to this study with their time, wisdom, and know-how that allowed me to share this wonderful and effective student-led teaching methodology that has the potential to change the face of education.

List of Tablesv
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study1
Background2
Problem Statement4
Purpose of Study5
Research Question6
Conceptual Framework6
Nature of the Study6
Data Sources7
Definitions8
Assumptions
Scope and Delimitations9
Limitations9
Significance9
Summary10
Chapter 2: Literature Review
Literature Search Strategy12
Conceptual Framework13
ARCS Used in Previous Research
PBL and Student Motivation
ARCS and PBL in a High School Language Arts Classroom

# Table of Contents

Literature Review of Key Variables and Concepts	27
Overview of PBL	27
Defining Project-Based Learning	
Project-based Learning versus Problem-based Learning	
History of PBL	
PBL as an Innovative Instructional Strategy	
PBL and Technology	
PBL Benefits and Challenges	
Implementation of PBL in Writing Classes	
How Teachers Perceive Student Motivation	
Summary and Conclusions	
Chapter 3: Research Method	41
Research Design and Rationale	41
Role of the Researcher	43
Methodology	44
Participant Selection Logic	44
Instrumentation	
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection	
Data Analysis Plan	47
Issues of Trustworthiness	48
Credibility	49
Transferability	50

Dependability
Confirmability
Ethical Procedures
Summary
Chapter 4: Results
Setting
Demographics
Data Collection
Data Analysis57
Analysis Overview
Evidence of Trustworthiness60
Credibility
Transferability
Dependability61
Confirmability
Results
Attention/Engagement 63
Relevance
Confidence
Satisfaction71
Summary74
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations75

Interpretation of the Findings	76
Attention/Engagement	
Relevance	
Confidence	
Satisfaction	
General Findings	
Limitations of the Study	
Recommendations	
Implications	
Social Change	
Theoretical Implications	
Conclusion	
References	
Appendix A: Participation Invitation Letter (Email)	
Appendix B: Interview Questions	

# List of Tables

Table 1.	Demographics	56
Table 2.	First Round Codes and Number of Responses	58
Table 3.	Codes and Participant Responses	53

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Educational reform continues to be the primary focus of educators, politicians, and concerned citizens, but also continues to be a source of confusion and contention as to what constitutes effective change (Verger et al., 2018). The recent COVID-19 pandemic has brought to light not only a greater appreciation for schools and teachers, but opportunities to improve focus and methodologies (Vegas & Winthrop, 2020). Research indicates that centuries of lecture-based instruction must give way to alternative methods of preparing students for ongoing 21st century expectations in a global market. "If we teach today's students as we taught yesterday's, we rob them of tomorrow" (Dewey, 1916, p. 167).

One way to incorporate 21st century skills is project-based learning (PBL), an instructional strategy that moves students to the forefront of their own learning and moves teachers into the role of facilitators and guides (Weiss & Belland, 2016). PBL has been in documented existence since the early 1900s when students were assigned the creation of home projects (Allison, 2018). In today's PBL classrooms, students work collaboratively in groups to solve problems, brainstorm potential topics, and employ technology to construct and present appropriate projects (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Students become active participants in their own learning and contribute to the learning of team members and classmates (Avsec & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, 2021).

According to Mishra and Mehta (2017), students born since 2000 are a new breed of learners, the first of their kind, due to their exposure to technology. The authors stated that digital information and communication technology are prioritized by students (Mishra & Mehta, 2017). Researchers are continuing to study the implementation and effectiveness of PBL in remedial and basic academic skills classrooms in all grade levels (Hooshyar et al., 2018), particularly within the context of technology use in learning. In this study, I intend to explore teacher perceptions and perspectives regarding PBL as a motivational tool to teach language arts.

Chapter 1 includes a summary of the literature related to this study, a discussion of the research problem, and research questions The conceptual framework is discussed along with the nature of the study. Additionally, in this chapter, I introduce the research method, definition of key terms, assumptions, limitations, significance of the study, and social implications for this study.

## Background

While PBL has been identified as a global teaching methodology for over a century (Habok, 2016), the practice remains limited in many areas of higher education (Guo et al., 2020). Research in the K-12 arena indicates PBL is more typically used in the sciences (Aldabbus, 2018). Other research provides guidelines for classroom projects and materials to support learning (Hooshyar et al., 2018). Researchers investigated PBL in a different discipline, exploring the effects of a PBL environment for an intermediate composition class. The authors make the claim that students, once fully engaged, tend to look forward to additional opportunities to apply their learning and reflective skills (Kumar & Refaei, 2018). This research is foundational for the implementation of additional PBL strategies in writing and composition classes. A major portion of this PBL

study is understanding teachers' perceptions of student motivation within the classroom, addressing the gap specifically regarding motivation in a language arts classroom.

Virtue and Hinnant-Crawford (2019) demonstrated the efficacy of PBL across disciplines, which provides an avenue to open PBL strategies in a variety of curricula. The authors specifically focused on writing classes for one discipline, which makes their application of PBL highly relevant to the research topic of this dissertation study. As an integral part of the PBL curriculum, Curseu and Schruijer's (2018) study of increased cognitive benefits of collaborative work demonstrated the power of the group projects. The authors encourage educators to share their expectations of student progress and to design classroom strategies that create opportunities for students to interact. Other collaborative work, primarily involving technology, informs Aarthi's (2020) study on students and social networking. Using PBL as a classroom learning pedagogy allows students greater autonomy, and Guo et al. (2020) explored the use of PBL as a design to motivate students in self-direction, as well as life skills, by providing opportunities to problem solve, execute time management, and improve communication.

While some instructors and some institutions are making the move to PBL as a preferred teaching methodology, this study will address the need for more research on PBL as a motivational classroom design in high school English or language arts classes (Irawati, 2015). Strategies and motivation for PBL implementation are often lacking in the higher grades (Boardman et al., 2021). The proposed study is needed to further explore high school teachers' perceptions of students' motivation to learn in a PBL language arts class.

#### **Problem Statement**

The problem is the lack of research on teacher perceptions of PBL as a motivational factor for students in a high school language arts class. Students require relevant instruction for better academic preparation, and at least a modicum of success to motivate them to move forward in their academic careers (Keller, 2010). When considering appropriate means of teaching and motivating composition students, educators should look to PBL as one option. When actively engaged in PBL, students take charge of their own learning and apply acquired knowledge to a project of personal relevance. Using research could aid in understanding the effect that PBL has on students' motivation (Guo et al., 2020). The problem this study will address is high school teachers' perceptions of students' motivation to learn in a PBL language arts class.

The move from such teacher-centered methodology to student-centered practices like PBL has the potential to increase student motivation and performance (Hooshyar et al., 2018). Henderson et al. (2018) indicated that finding an optimal teaching pedagogy in composition classes is both relevant and meaningful to the field of education. Many students who enroll in a composition class can be classified as "at risk" students, and PBL is one method of helping students learn required grammar and composition skills while also promoting students' need to become aware of their potential impact as writers (Kumar & Refaei, 2018) in personal and professional realms. PBL is often a teacherguided pedagogy for collaborative assignments where instructor attitude sets the tone for learning (Hooshyar et al., 2018). With PBL, students learn not only from the teacher, but also their peers.

By applying Keller's macro model of motivation and performance with components known as ARCS (attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction; Keller, 2010), classroom instruction becomes a deliberate plan for reaching students and providing a springboard for the development of their own learning. Wu et al. (2022) found that instructors who apply all four components of the Keller's model noted improved student motivation and learning outcomes. Therefore, there is a need for increased understanding about how teachers perceive their students' responses to PBL as a motivational strategy, as well as how they view academic lessons as relevant for real world implementation. Although evidence exists demonstrating a shift from lecture-based teaching to more student-led learning strategies such as PBL, significant, widespread changes in education remain underdeveloped and elusive (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Stahnke and Blomeke (2021) noted the growth that occurs in teachers as they progress from novice to expert teachers because of varied experiences. Thus, teacher perceptions of students' motivation can be seen as both valid and trustworthy (Brandmiller et al., 2020; Tadesse, 2022). For this study specifically, there is a gap in the research related to high school language arts teachers' perceptions of the effects of PBL on student motivation in language arts classes.

#### **Purpose of Study**

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. The phenomenon being focused on in this study is high school teachers' perceptions of students' motivation to learn in a PBL language arts course.

#### **Research Question**

What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design is the conceptual framework used to provide insight into specific areas of the learning process. Motivation is important because it provides the impetus for students to desire to learn or succeed (Keller, 1979). These criteria points of attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction allow students to reflect on the multi-layered influence of PBL as an effective classroom design for high school language arts and the impact of such a class on future academic and career endeavors.

Writing from a perspectivist viewpoint, Keller (1987) outlined his components as ARCS: attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction. These provide a framework not only for assessing teacher perceptions of PBL in a language arts class, but also the means to address student needs to encourage their success (Keller, 1987). A more thorough explanation of these components will be addressed in Chapter 2. This motivational design model provides a framework by which to organize interview questions, code interviews, email prompts, and research documents. Additionally, these components provide the foundation for research analysis of teacher descriptions of their PBL experience.

### Nature of the Study

This study used a basic qualitative approach and focused on high school language arts teachers' perceptions of PBL and its influence on their students' learning and motivation. A common thread throughout qualitative studies is that "knowledge is constructed" as people go about their daily lives and create significance and value for their experiences (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016, p. 23). For this study, nine high school language arts teachers communicated their perceptions of student motivation via interviews. A major portion of this PBL study was exploring and understanding the teachers' perceptions of student motivation within the classroom, addressing the gap specifically regarding motivation in a language arts classroom. Merriam (2009) states that a basic qualitative research study is derived from constructionism, phenomenology, and symbolic interaction, and used by researchers who want to learn more about "how people interpret their experiences, how they construct their worlds, and what meaning they ascribe to these events. The overall purpose of a basic qualitative study is to understand how people make sense of their lives and their experiences" (p. 23).

#### **Data Sources**

The source and analysis of data are based on the requirements for a basic qualitative study. Data will be collected from researcher-designed, open-ended, semi structured interviews. Participants will be sent an invitation to participate (Appendix A), as well as the protocol for interviews (Appendix B). Sample questions will be emailed before the initial interview to allow participants to reflect more deeply on their PBL experience, along with their intrinsic and extrinsic motivation in a PBL language arts class. Interviews are tied to current research. Data will then be transcribed and summarized and sent to participants for review.

#### Definitions

*Project-based learning (PBL)*: A pedagogical approach that guides students to create a project that addresses an ill-structured problem (Fischer, 2015). The instructor takes on the role of facilitator, and learning is student-centered and collaborative.

*Motivation*: Motivation is defined as the impetus that drives an action (Keller, 1987a). Such impetus may be intrinsic or extrinsic or both and can vary depending on the situation. The action in this study is the willingness to participate in classroom PBL activities and share in personal and group assignments.

*Traditional learning*: A pedagogical approach that is primarily teacher-centered with a focus on the impartation of knowledge through lecture and group discussion in a typical classroom environment (Al Said et al., 2019).

## Assumptions

An assumption is the acceptance of unexamined views or theories. There are a few assumptions about the teacher population for this study. First, it is assumed that teachers in these language arts classes who participate in this study have consistent experiences with PBL throughout the course. This means that teachers provide students with a detailed description of PBL and the expectations for their particular class. This is important because this study focuses on teachers' perceptions of their lived experiences in a language arts class with PBL as the instructional approach. Second, it is assumed that teachers will be able to recognize distinct differences between the PBL methodology and traditional lecture methodology, and they will be able to describe the effects of PBL on their students' motivation. Third, this study assumes that participants will be honest and contemplative throughout the interviews and written portions of data collection.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

Scope and delimitations refer to boundaries and rationales for those boundaries regarding a specific study. The scope of this study is limited to the unique experiences of high school language arts teachers with the specific phenomenon of PBL in their classrooms. The study is bound by the limited number of high school language arts teachers who teach a PBL composition course. The understanding of PBL and student motivation may be extended to other environments.

#### Limitations

Limitations refer to design or methodology choices that may affect this study (Simon & Goes, 2013). Limitations may occur because I am the sole researcher collecting and analyzing data. As a proponent of PBL as a classroom design, I will minimize potential bias by implementing bracketing and epoché strategies outlined in Chapter 3 that address the issue of researcher bias. The instructor's teaching style and other factors may limit student responses in any number of ways.

# Significance

The significance of this study was determined in relation to (a) its original contribution to research, (b) improving practice in the field, (c) furthering innovative learning and instruction, and (d) contributing to positive social change. As an original contribution to research, motivational models and PBL strategies are to be explored as they influence and relate to composition students and instruction. Although motivation

and PBL components have been individually explored in depth, they have not been studied together in high school language arts classrooms, which is how this study may advance knowledge in the field. A better understanding of high school language arts teachers' perceptions related to motivational factors in a PBL course can provide a foundation for future research that may, in turn, provide instruction that increases student motivation (Hooshyar et al., 2018) related to learning grammar and writing skills. In relation to improving practice in the field, a greater understanding of the efficacy of PBL in writing classes via the documentation of increased motivation to learn may influence educators to adapt some or all PBL strategies to enhance student motivation and learning and make composition more relevant for real world use. In relation to furthering innovative learning and instruction, this study seeks to bridge the gap between traditional composition instruction and the need for a collaborative, technology-based focus that will continue to positively inform students as 21st century learners and leaders. Finally, this study will provide a workable framework for positive social change directly as a result of increased student engagement in PBL.

#### Summary

This chapter introduced the study of high school language arts teachers' perceptions of PBL on their students' motivation to learn. The background section includes a summary of the research literature related to this study. The problem statement and purpose of the study focus on the need to explore and understand high school Language Arts teachers' perceptions of PBL on their students' motivation to learn. The research questions provided a guide for inquiry and the conceptual framework provided an introduction to Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design, which will be examined in detail in Chapter 2. Definitions included a basic understanding of the most significant terms. Assumptions, scope and delimitations, and limitation all noted boundaries for the research. The significance of this study is that it may contribute to increased knowledge of PBL in a high school education setting, specifically in composition classes. It is also significant because it may promote greater student engagement, and student-led projects that will have a positive social impact.

Chapter 2 includes a review of relevant literature on PBL. It includes a brief description of PBL as it pertains to high school language arts classes. The conceptual framework used for this study is Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design. Chapter 2 provides a thorough review of current literature related to the key PBL concepts for this study.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

This study explored high school language arts teachers' perceptions of students' experiences in a PBL class. This study also addresses the gap in the literature concerning PBL as a motivational class design for college composition students. Specifically, for this study, there is a gap in the research related to high school English teachers' perceptions of the effects of PBL on student motivation in Language Arts classes. Instructors and administrators at the secondary school level need to consider how to best present basic language arts classes to ensure student success. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. The phenomenon being focused on in this study is student engagement with PBL.

Teacher perceptions about their students' experiences in a PBL composition classroom provide greater understanding for instructors and administrators regarding curriculum design. This literature review encompasses both traditional and nontraditional methods of teaching writing, current trends in PBL, and student motivation. The central theme of this study also lends itself to the recent literature on constructivism, collaboration, and 21st century learning skills. In this chapter, I will discuss the conceptual framework for my study, an overview of PBL, teacher perceptions of student motivation, and a final summary.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

A thorough search of databases provided literature for the broader topics of grammar, motivation, and PBL. Additional search terms included *higher education*,

attention, relevance, confidence, satisfaction, problem-based learning, innovation, writing, and other synonyms of these terms. As literature was gathered, reference lists were generated in Evernote<sup>TM</sup>, Papers<sup>TM</sup>, and Scrivener<sup>TM</sup> and analyzed for consistency. Databases used included Education Source, Education Search Complete, ERIC, PsycINFO, and multidisciplinary databases, including Sage Premier and ProQuest. The literature search encompassed a plethora of research journals, as well as additional readings from other academic sources.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

In this study, I used Keller's (1979, 1987) ARCS model of motivational design as a conceptual framework to study the phenomenon of students' motivation in a PBL high school language arts course. It must first be understood that PBL is an inherently constructivist pedagogy, which means students create their own knowledge with varying degrees of depth based on their engagement while in the process of determining, planning for, and executing a final project that is their solution to a proposed problem (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017; Shadiev et al., 2020). While engagement and its role in attention will be discussed in a later section, it is important to note here that many students have become accustomed to passive learning rather than the active, participatory behavior as required by PBL (Avsec & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, 2021). In the classroom, constructivism is a mutual responsibility for students, as well as the teachers who act as facilitators in this process (Cheng et al., 2021; Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017; Lozano et al., 2017).

While students benefit from formal education that provides facts and theories, there is also benefit from the informal, which allows students to practice, reflect on, and develop their own understanding (Swart, 2018). Some of these informal practices assist in making students' thinking visible (Stehle & Peters-Burton, 2019). Group discussions, journaling, and board activities such as mind mapping are all methods that encourage students to see their thought processes. Practiced PBL instructors learn to identify student struggles and create a constructivist atmosphere by facilitating any or all these strategies (Allison, 2018). By developing their skills as critical thinkers, asking important questions, and exploring multiple solutions, students are better able to obtain and organize data for the construction of new information and the completion of an appropriate project.

Keller's (1987) approach evolved from his macro model of motivation, which is grounded in expectancy-value theory and based on the works of Tolman (1932) and Lewin (1938). As Keller continued to adapt the ARCS model to today's learners and a technology-driven society, more theoretical underpinnings emerged such as cognitive load theory (Sepp et al., 2019), basic principles of instruction (Merrill, 2002), multiple intrinsic and extrinsic motivational studies, and volition (Kuhl, 1987), which became an additional component of the ARCS model, but will not be a primary focus of this study. This broad theoretical base led Keller to develop a model of motivation that bridged the gap between the study of motivation and its implementation in the classroom as an adaptable design for all learning environments (Keller, 1987a, 1987b).

Prior to Keller's contributions, motivational theory primarily focused on aspects of motivation and outcomes such as successes associated with job performance (Keller, 1987a). Both in the work force and the educational arena, motivational strategies tend to focus on moving the workers or learners forward by stressing that greater effort equals greater output (Keller, 1987a). Such strategies fail to assess personal needs, existing intrinsic motivation, and attractiveness of extrinsic rewards (Keller, 1987a, 1987b). Thus, the ARCS model was derived from Keller's original macro model of motivation (Keller, 1979) and broken down into four components: attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction. It is important to note that this is not behavior modification strategy, and the design was originally intended for any typical classroom (Keller, 1987a). The model can be adapted for a plethora of situations and learning environments, but this study will focus on student-led learning classrooms.

Keller's theory encompasses four components that contribute to student potential for success, which refer to achievement and personal feelings of accomplishment. Attention, relevance, and confidence are the individual components that speak to how information is received and perceived. The final component completing the ARCS model is satisfaction, which is the sum of the success, or lack thereof, of the first three components, as perceived by an individual (Keller, 1987a, 2000, 2010a). Taken together, the components assist in understanding what motivation is and how each component can be implemented to maximize motivation (Keller, 1987b; Keller, 2010c).

The first component, attention, refers to student responsiveness. Keller (1999) stressed that variety is key in not only gaining attention, but in sustaining it (Keller, 1999, 2010a). Instructors should have a repertoire of strategies that keep students attentive and curious. Such strategies may include using various forms of technology or engaging in presentations, role-playing, and games (Keller, 1987a, 2008, 2016). Students' expectations are kept off balance, which sustains attention at optimum levels and speaks to individuals' needs for sensation (Zuckerman, 1971).

Relevance is the second ARCS component and is linked directly to learners' goals. Some students are normally high achievers with strong intrinsic motivation and adaptable learning styles (Keller, 2010a, 2010b). Those attributes, coupled with the desire for the extrinsic reward of high grades, attach relevance simply because of that desired outcome. Relevance is the area where teaching strategies that encompass real world or simulated real world experiences enhance personal interest in a subject are often referred to as authentic learning (Keller, 2010a). Such authentic learning opportunities have their root in constructivist literature (Duffy et al., 1993). Participation in apprenticeships or project-based activities may enhance relevance for students who do not normally have a strong intrinsic motivation. In today's competitive world, students want to know that what they are learning has real-world application.

The third component of the ARCS model is confidence and is perhaps the most complex component. This motivational area draws from Bandura (1977), selfdetermination theory, attribution theory (Weiner, 1974), and goal-orientation theory (Dweck & Leggett, 1988). Confidence comes from students believing that they are capable of success; however, confidence does not increase if tasks are too simple or if they are so difficult that no amount of effort will achieve success (Keller, 2010a, 2010b). For example, cognitive load theorists (Fleming & Levie, 1978) stated that intrinsic motivation expands the load capacity, but when students have personal, academic, or other stressors happening simultaneously, their capacity is significantly decreased. Keller's (1987a, 1987b) ten-step analysis plan and simplified analysis plan (Keller, 2000) provide tools to assess student strengths and weaknesses in each component area. The confidence component of analysis is the area most likely to delve into non-academic aspects of students' lives (Keller, 2000). While instructors cannot be expected to solve personal and social problems, strategies may be modified to better ensure students' belief in their ability to succeed. A preliminary, author-involved study (Keller, 1987a) of the ARCS model in practice revealed that teachers who focused on personal motivational issues of students experienced more instructor frustration and little improvement in student confidence. However, instructors who concentrated on learning projects had greater success with student demonstration of confidence (Keller, 1987a).

The final component is satisfaction, which describes student attitudes about their learning experience, thus encouraging greater motivation for moving forward academically or professionally. The adage, "success breeds success" is the focus of the satisfaction component; however, it is not enough to simply create a "feel good" atmosphere. There must be a balance between extrinsic rewards and the maintaining of intrinsic motivation (Keller, 2010a). Akin to the perception of relevance, real-world application creates an opportunity to show what students know, which can create deep feelings of satisfaction. Additionally, positive student assessment of the actual course work required means they felt the workload was appropriate, they were treated respectfully and fairly in the class, and that the instructor showed professional impartiality when grading assignments (Keller, 2010a).

The four components of the ARCS model are distinct and purposeful; however, each one is essential to elicit motivation from students. Keller's (1987a) design model details steps to implement motivational strategies for each of the four components. Huett et al. (2008) found that focusing on a single ARCS component is not as effective as using the entire model in tandem. Keller leaves exact actions to the instructors, stating that they are the ones who best know what strategies will most likely produce positive results in the classrooms. This heuristic approach gives instructors flexibility when creating lesson plans (Keller, 1987a) and can be adapted to almost any environment, whether it is a traditional face-to-face classroom or any kind of online learning.

# **ARCS Used in Previous Research**

Numerous studies have been conducted using Keller's (1987a, 1987b) approach as both a model for designing classroom instruction, as well as a model for studying motivation. Keller described the unique results as perspectivism (2010c), which conveys the idea that the phenomenon being studied or considered has a great deal of validity within the context of the explicit research, but findings are often difficult to replicate outside the given study. In an interview with Keller, he stated that there is no lack of research on motivation, but very little on the synthesis of motivation and classroom design, noting, "motivation is a fundamental and necessary component of the learning process" (Simsek, 2014, p. 91). Thus, the current research reflects diverse examples of the ARCS model implementation and effectiveness.

Problem-based learning has been studied in several ways, but student motivational experiences in PBL courses have not been well documented (Guo et al., 2020; Lozano et al., 2017). PBL is typically studied as either an innovative pedagogy or from the viewpoint of instructor implementation (Guo et al., 2020). Other PBL studies focus more on components of the pedagogy such as collaborative learning and studentled learning (Chen & Chang, 2016; Johri, 2015). Examining motivation is important for this study because PBL is not as prevalent in secondary and higher education, and thus may be a factor in reducing attrition, especially for students who lack some of the skills necessary for future college success (Lozano et al., 2017). Of the many ways that motivation can be studied, the ARCS model is the best choice for several reasons. First, ARCS as a design model has been shown to improve student motivation (Cheng et al., 2021; McMahon et al., 2019). Therefore, using the model to study a phenomenon, even if the ARCS model was not overtly used to design the PBL experience, will help determine which elements of motivation students experienced, as perceived by their teachers. A second reason the ARCS model is a good fit for this study is that the four elements are well defined and will provide structure for both data collection and data analysis.

The lecture is the traditional mode of instruction for high school and college (Cheng et al., 2021; McMahon et al., 2019). Instructors typically focus on the quality of lesson content and expect students to be responsible for their own motivation; however, in his meta-analysis of ARCS studies, McMahon (2019) reported that roughly 30% of students who are highly motivated achieve greater success than their peers. Study results have led researchers to promote professional development and other faculty learning opportunities to focus on honing appropriate skills in classroom motivation, contending that teachers should be responsible for student motivation (McMahon et al., 2019).

High school teaching requires instructors to create a class design to meet the needs of students coming from diverse backgrounds, have a broad range of academic prowess, and have differing levels of intrinsic motivation. Keller advised instructors to conduct knowledge surveys including his own or one based on Gagne's taxonomy to assist in the class design and implementation of the ARCS components. Diverse skill levels in the classroom are an area that require further study, but the lack of research highlights the necessity of catching and sustaining student attention, thus preparing them for relevance (Zimmer & Matthews, 2022). The ARCS model requires instructors to ask how they will capture and sustain attention, how to make content relevant, how to boost student confidence, and how to leave students with a satisfying academic experience.

Researchers and instructors have implemented the ARCS model and confirmed both its adaptability as a classroom design and positive effects on student performance. Aşiksoy and Özdamli's (2016) mixed methods study in a flipped classroom revealed improved student self-sufficiency and higher grades than the control group. In KunLi et al.'s (2018) quantitative study, students were observed in a math class where a video was used to capture attention and create relevance and confidence, which was significant due to the established assessment that many students enter required college math classes with poor attitudes.

Recently, role-playing games have become more popular in today's classrooms. Instructors used the ARCS model to create and implement such games as part of their lessons (Aldemir et al., 2018; Wan-Chen et al., 2021). The ARCS framework was used to study motivation in classrooms using virtual teaching strategy, gamification, role-playing, or the use of video or in Second Life (Weiling et al., 2018). Additionally, Wahyudi et al. (2017) noted that instructors could use ARCS as a constructivist framework to encourage students to move from emphasis on extrinsic motivations, such as grades based on performance, to intrinsic motivation based on increased confidence in their own learning and satisfaction derived from using their academic experiences in real world situations. These studies show the ARCS model as a flexible framework that returns focus to student needs and creates a plan to meet those needs in a variety of classroom settings.

In other research, the ARCS model has been shown to be effective in studies focused on distance learning when implemented as the framework for the classroom design (Malik, 2014). The model worked synergistically with scaffolding to engage online nursing students (Gormley et al., 2012) as part of a well thought out classroom design. However, unless learners have strong intrinsic motivation, they often have greater challenges with online classes, due primarily to an increased sense of isolation (Malik, 2014). Such challenges typically appear as low marks in the confidence category of the ARCS model when students are assessed prior to and during their online learning experience. Left unaddressed, this phenomenon often leads to a high rate of attrition (Boatman et al., 2017). Keller (1987a) stressed the need for instructors to assess the strengths and weaknesses of students to best meet their needs, including those who are statistically more likely to drop out of school. Even when time or curriculum demands limit such assessments, the ARCS model can still enable meaningful learning and structure by addressing each crucial component.

Although the positive effects of the ARCS model classroom design on student motivation are well demonstrated (Cheng et al., 2021; McMahon et al., 2019), quite a few researchers found that instructor feedback was equally motivating (Malik, 2014; Wan-Chen et al., 2021; Weiling et al., 2021). Researchers stressed the need for faculty training to recognize and understand student motivational needs and how to best implement the ARCS model for optimum effectiveness (Wu et al., 2022). It should be noted that there is little qualitative research on using the ARCS model to explore student attitudes about motivation. A careful search of the databases revealed a few mixed methods studies that favored quantitative analysis, but also used interviews to explain or expand student reactions to a study's specific learning environment (Aşiksoy & Özdamli, 2016; Huang et al., 2014). Wu et al. (2022) and Huett et al. (2008) found that research is lacking in the area of student motivational needs, particularly in some areas of higher education. Broadening the search to motivation and phenomenological studies in higher education revealed only a few current articles (since 2012) that focus on student motivation (Brand, & Millard, 2019; King & Boyatt, 2015). A recurring theme of current research is teaching methodologies that show some success in the area of student motivation; however, that focus is broadening to include studies on teaching strategies that emphasize 21st century skills and student-led learning. PBL is an innovative, 21st century pedagogy that deserves a closer look to explore student attitudes towards classroom design and motivation.

# **PBL and Student Motivation**

Keller (2010) defines motivation as "that which explains the direction and magnitude of behavior" or "the goals people choose to pursue and how actively or

intensely they pursue them" (p. 4). Motivation, in general, can be loosely assessed by the levels of student engagement and dedication to pursuing a task or solution. Such engagement requires a challenge. Instructors should seek to find a balance between the demands of the challenge and the ability of the students to locate and synthesize pertinent information. These challenges and successes create an impetus for continued engagement, thus completing the circle of learning (Hanney, 2018).

Studies of successful implementation of PBL revealed that instructors described PBL as appealing and inspirational (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). In general, Shadiev et al. (2020) found that students were motivated by the process of self-directed learning and the ability to make their own choices when it came to creating projects. Working in groups to develop meaningful projects heightened student motivation, increased a unified sense of belonging, and allowed students to apply what they learned in a relevant fashion both academically and professionally (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). While these findings support PBL as an effective classroom design, Manganelli et al. (2019) posited that students performed at higher levels when they were motivated, whether intrinsically or extrinsically. Understanding what triggers motivation in students is crucial to creating positive outcomes in PBL classrooms. Keller's (1979) model of motivation breaks these triggers down into four synergistic categories – attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction.

# Attention

Attention is defined by Keller (1999, 2010a) as not only capturing students' active interest, but also sustaining it over the necessary time period. Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017

noted the relationship between active learning and student engagement and the authors recommended the concept of "imagining" projects of engaged students when focusing on improving 21st century skills. Indeed, PBL as a constructivist-based, active learning design, is expected and proven to promote increased and improved critical thinking skills and willing student participation in lessons and activities (Shadiev et al., (2020). Students responded positively to PBL because the curriculum was engaging, provided them autonomy, and motivated them to actively participate (Guo et al., 2020).

# Relevance

Relevance, specific to PBL, refers to the connections students make between classroom learning and their goals and interests (Keller, 2010a). Highly motivated students may enjoy learning for the sake of learning, but a majority of students do not see lessons as relevant unless they relate to real-world application (Galvan & Greenhow, 2019). On a very basic level, PBL provides an environment for students to grow as individuals and relate their project development and completion to personal and professional goals, both directly and indirectly (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Further, the reflection aspect of PBL gives students the opportunity to explore and interpret their experiences to deepen their learning and give it a broader application (Du, 2020; Husserl, 2017). PBL allowed students to make the leap from "novices to experts in the domain of knowledge" (Al Said et al., 2019 p. 73). Students put forth greater effort when projects involving community partners depended on them going beyond the mere learning of facts to interpreting and applying the knowledge to create meaningful projects (Guo et al., 2020).
# Confidence

Student confidence relies not only on the belief that success is possible, but also on some aspect of overcoming challenges in the attainment of that success (Keller, 2010a) and it usually applies to both the student's personal and academic traits and beliefs (Keller, 2000). Teachers who sympathize with students who have personal challenges found that student confidence increased overall when they engaged in the creation of meaningful projects (Keller, 1987a). The complexity of confidence is related to student motivation and eagerness to make real-world connections while enjoying reduced stress due to increased autonomy in a PBL classroom (Du et al., 2020). Indeed, exit surveys showed students had greater confidence in their critical thinking skills, problem-solving skills, and the ability to complete a project (Henri et al., 2017). PBL, when done well, provides the opportunity for all students to enjoy success, see an increase in intrinsic motivation, and move forward with greater self-esteem and confidence in their newfound or recently honed personal and academic skills (Al Said et al., 2019).

# **Satisfaction**

According to Keller (2010a), students need to experience satisfaction or a feeling of fulfillment based on their pleasure with the class outcomes and their increased sense of motivation and commitment towards accomplishing future goals. While students may be pleased with their progress during the learning process, it is the reflection that takes place after completion of the project that allows students to ascribe satisfaction to the learning experience, collaborative work, appropriateness of assignments and grading, and the feeling of success (Al Said et al., 2019; Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Encouraging students to engage in a written reflection of their PBL journey can be empowering as they consider not only what they learned, but how to make that information relevant and meaningful in all quadrants of their lives (Du et al., 2020).

### ARCS and PBL in a High School Language Arts Classroom

My proposed study will benefit from the ARCS model in several ways. First, the conceptual framework will be used to organize how data are collected in this study and will serve as the framework from which research questions are generated. Second, this study will use Keller's (1979, 1987a, 1987b) ARCS model of motivational design to provide an organized way to study high school teachers' perceptions of their students' motivation in a PBL language arts class. In preparation for data collection, interview questions aligned with the research questions will focus on the four elements of the ARCS model.

The conceptual framework will also be used during the data analysis phase of my study. The ARCS model will serve as a framework to categorize student responses to interview questions. The research questions separate each of the components into individual motivational sections elements where students can address each component on its own merits and share their perceptions of the effectiveness of PBL as a motivational strategy in a language arts class. These responses will form the basis for the coding process, provide a thorough analysis of teacher perceptions of student attitudes regarding each component, explore their overall perceptions of PBL as a motivational strategy in their classroom, and consider its potential for effective use in other disciplines. Keller (2010a) stressed that the adaptable design of the ARCS model is ideal for any teaching situation. Researchers noted the need for further study of PBL as a classroom design in higher education (Johri, 2015; Lozano et al., 2017) and the ARCS model, as a flexible framework, would allow further and much needed exploration in this area of study.

## Literature Review of Key Variables and Concepts

The following sections of Chapter 2 provide a more in-depth analysis of PBL key variables and related concepts. These include an overview of PBL, defining PBL, differentiating between project versus problem-based learning, the history of PBL, PBL as an innovative instructional strategy for 21st century learning, PBL and technology, PBL and student outcomes, PBL and student motivation, and implementation of PBL in writing classes, as well as a brief discussion of teachers as experts in their classrooms, which pertains to my study of teachers' perceptions of student motivation in PBL classrooms.

# **Overview of PBL**

Innovation is a key word in educational programs throughout the world. Helping students of all ages achieve academic success that translates into real-world professional, social, and life-competence skills is an admirable, albeit daunting, goal. PBL is one innovation that has the capacity as a teaching and learning strategy to address 21st century learning needs for today's students (Avsec & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, 2021).

Learners are looking for practical and applicable knowledge that comes from collaborative efforts and the solving of real - world problems (Wiek, 2014). Such an innovation requires a shift from well-established practices such as dependence on lecture methods and teacher-led instruction (Johri, 2015). This shift, even in local or isolated classrooms, still benefits students, teachers, and communities. In this era of educational flux, with controversial issues such as standardized testing and increased governmental controls over curriculum, PBL stands out as one innovation that has been shown to positively affect student learning (Chen et al., 2019). In order to explore the benefits of PBL, a general definition is required as well as a discussion of its history, roots in constructivism, and its modern application to 21st century skills.

## **Defining Project-Based Learning**

There are multiple definitions of PBL, but most share common elements. PBL falls under the broader umbrella of inquiry-based learning (IBL), which includes selfdirected learning (SDL), self-regulated learning (SRL), active learning, and problembased learning (PmBL), which will be discussed in a later section. It is not uncommon for PBL to have slightly different meanings in other countries or be used in unique ways depending on the discipline (Fischer, 2015; Hanney, 2018). Many researchers, however, agree that PBL should encompass elements of collaborative learning, student-led instruction, critical thinking skills, problem-solving, decision-making, and the construction and presentation of a significant project that typically involves real-world application (Allison, 2018). This broad definition of PBL lends itself to multiple classroom scenarios and makes it clear that traditional teacher-led instruction must be rethought. Hou (2014) argued that PBL might be a better choice for students who have already completed basic classes where the information is presented to the students, but Johri (2015) stated that traditional teachers with their customary classroom strategies need to reassess their effectiveness and practicality in a world that is craving innovation. Alrajeh (2021) used a phenomenological approach to explore the perceptions of teacher candidates regarding their training in and practice of PBL and reveal a deeper understanding of their lived experiences. PBL encourages students to own their work on their projects and encourages them to look beyond the classroom (Chen et al., 2019). The flexibility of PBL means that there is the potential for more and deeper discussions about areas of interest or even areas where students need instructor guidance (Stehle, & Peters-Burton, 2019). The broad definition of PBL allows instructors autonomy when designing lessons while still providing a framework of the basic components.

In an attempt to define PBL, it is important to understand the multiple ways PBL can be used in the classroom. One purpose of PBL is to involve students in their own learning and teach a variety of 21<sup>st</sup> century skills (Avsec & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, 2021). Chief among these skills are creativity, problem solving, technology proficiency, collaboration, communication, and critical thinking (Avsec & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, 2021; Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). PBL allows students to build on what they know through meaningful activities (Al Said et al., 2019; Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017), or use existing knowledge in new ways, "reconstructing their intellectual knowledge" (Chen et al., 2019, p. 470). PBL has been shown to flourish best with dynamic teachers who provide continual feedback and formative assessments throughout the project process (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Researchers Chen et al. (2019) found that students who experienced the constructivist environment of PBL demonstrated greater self-efficacy, improved collaborative skills, and improved test scores when compared to students in traditional (lecture-based) classrooms. However, the ultimate success of PBL depends on learners' cooperation (Swart, 2018). The construction of new knowledge is a collaborative process, but it is up to students to adapt to the changes of this inquiry – based pedagogy.

Another purpose of PBL focuses specifically on higher education practices, although current implementation of PBL at the college or university level is far behind K-12 education (Guo et al., 2020; Manganelli et al., 2019). Many instructors in higher education employ some form of lecture in their classrooms; however, lecture-based teaching has been called into question for its effectiveness (Aşiksoy & Özdamli, 2016; Konrad et al., 2020). Traditional teacher-led instruction does not allow most students the means to recognize their own learning needs or address their learning styles (Swart, 2018). One purpose of PBL is to shift classroom designs that are conducive to involvement in new and relevant experiences, making it a valuable methodology to encourage student engagement. Despite the general lack of PBL in colleges and universities, (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017) found that PBL in college engineering programs offered students an opportunity to expand their problem-solving skills by creating real-world projects such as oil collection inventions for deep water oil spills or improved water collection and purification devices. Such studies reinforce the effectiveness of PBL in higher education, which has lagged behind the K-12 arena, both in practice and in research (Guo et al 2020; Lozano et al., 2017; Manganelli et al., 2019). Moving away from lecture-based learning is a shift for many college faculty; however, students who participated in PBL generally rose to the challenges of putting forth more

effort, thinking more creatively, and focusing more on the quality of their work (Al Said et al., 2019). Thus, instructors and students often define PBL by describing its objectives and results in actual classroom experiences.

### **Project-based Learning versus Problem-based Learning**

In order to further define PBL, it is useful to understand the closely related problem-based learning (PmBL). Both PBL and PmBL share attributes that lend themselves to self-directed learning, collaboration, deep critical thinking skills, improved communication, focus on real world problems, and self-regulation skills (Du et al., 2020; Konrad et al., 2020; Stehle, & Peters -Burton, 2019). Researchers Kalkan et al. (2013) and Johri (2015) combined the strategies and considered them two sides of the same pedagogical coin. (Meral et al., 2016) stated that researchers do not agree on any specific difference between the two, although they admit there are differences.

The primary dissimilarity between the two strategies is that PmBL focuses on solving an ill-structured or complex problem, ideally with more than one solution, dealing with real-world situations (Allison, 2018). Students work cooperatively to solve the problem, which may span more than one discipline (Hanney 2018). PBL, however, focuses on the creation of a clear project or product that is developed in response to a problem (Allison, 2018). Meral et al. (2016) clarified the differences in the strategies, stating PmBL focuses on obtaining and analyzing knowledge, while PBL focuses on the application of that knowledge. Because of the complementary nature of these pedagogies, several researchers have suggested that they be combined for a richer learning experience (Allison, 2018). Discerning the key attributes of PmBL and PBL is important because the

differences in the two pedagogies' structure informs specific curriculum design and leads to completely different outcomes. While both PBL and PmBL share common design attributes, they are best understood as separate pedagogies that can complement each other, or as stand-alone strategies used for specific purposes within a given classroom.

# **History of PBL**

Understanding PBL in a historical context provides evidence that the educational scenery is shifting from lecture-based instruction to student-led learning. PBL is a student-centered approach that has been employed in various forms by American schools for over a century (Fischer, 2015). The concept of PBL is a broad one and is highly adaptable to a variety of educational scenarios. While PBL has enjoyed a long history in the K-12 arena, particularly in the sciences (Guo et al 2020; Konrad et al 2020), higher education has a much lower incidence of PBL, and traditional teaching methods remain a strong constant (Guo et al 2020). The focus now is on helping students develop 21st century skills and acquire a firm grasp of applicable technology (Allison, 2018). Allison (2018) noted that PBL transforms learning from passive to active, providing students with opportunities for collaborative learning, improved critical thinking skills, and a greater sense of autonomy and ownership of the learning process and results. Indeed, immersion in projects may cause students to become experts in a particular area (Fischer, 2015). Thus, it is important to more fully explore PBL as an innovative 21st century instructional strategy and its relationship with technology.

### **PBL** as an Innovative Instructional Strategy

A crucial component of current curriculum goals is the acquisition of what is known as 21st century learning skills. These skills are comprised of critical thinking, problem-solving, collaborative learning, research abilities, and self-directed learning (Henri et al., 2017; Shadiev et al., 2020). PBL is an inherently collaborative learning strategy (Hou, 2014) where students engage in group discussions, conflict-resolution, and communal problem-solving (Husserl, 2017). Students typically begin with a project as an end goal and then work toward its completion by participating in these collaborative activities (Lozano et al., 2017), which have additional positive effects such as deeper understanding of subject matter and improved communication skills (Chang & Chen, 2016; Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Researchers noted that not all students have positive collaborative experiences (Chang & Chen, 2016), so faculty oversight and guidance is essential for student success in a PBL curriculum (Chang & Chen, 2016).

# PBL and Technology

The inclusion and advancements of technology in the workforce means students need to be provided educational opportunities that will give them the necessary skills to succeed in the 21st century. As technology expands and more of the workforce becomes global, PBL helps education to move from a formal theoretical base to practical training for success in real-world work experiences. Cheng et al. (2021) stated that the primary purpose of schools in the last century focused on the "what," but today's schools that focus students' attention on the "how" will be pivotal as those students navigate the sweeping changes in the workplace created by technology. In addition to networking and collaborative activities, technology expertise must be an integral component of today's curriculum (Cheng et al., 2021; Hou, 2014) and PBL is recognized as an effective learning strategy to achieve that goal (Al Said et al., 2019; Henderson et al., 2018).

Allison (2018) found that PBL provided the framework for students to create videos and use their experiences to become media-literate. While not every student is computer literate, the collaborative nature of PBL allows students to learn and improve their technology skills at the peer level (Allison, 2018). Hou's (2014) research revealed that students in a PBL digital storytelling class used technology to create, store, organize, and present data. Such use of technology expands the capacity for topical research, greater understanding about how to use technology, and offers experience integrating technology into presentations (Shadiev et al., 2020) This practical knowledge may be part of actual technology instruction or a byproduct of researching and presenting meaningful projects. Navigating the information age is crucial for success, and researchers declared, that because of its adaptability to almost any instructional need, PBL is "one of the best teaching methods in the 21st century" (Allison, 2018). Such an endorsement encourages educators to implement a learning strategy that enables and empowers students to become

### **PBL Benefits and Challenges**

With the focus on 21<sup>st</sup> century skills, PBL is a learning strategy that bridges the gap between education and experience (Cheng et al., 2021). However, as with any strategy, there exist both benefits and challenges. Effort and planning are required for PBL to create an environment conducive to exploration, learning, and creating. Equally,

overcoming obstacles is vital and oftentimes exceptionally challenging for instructors and students.

## **Benefits**

One benefit of PBL is that it is an adaptable strategy that allows instructors to create a class framework where students build on their own existing and new knowledge and the knowledge of their classmates in order to discover and create meaningful projects. Such projects may provide real-world and/or service-related experiences. Tasks that would not ordinarily be considered part of traditional assignments and may include interdisciplinary learning, as well as project ownership and increased motivation, can provide students with real-world experiences (Guo et al., 2020; Lozano et al., 2017). This also provides the opportunity to develop and enhance creative thinking and inquiry-based learning skills that will offer foundational expertise for future employment (Stehle, & Peters-Burton, 2019; Brew et al., 2017). Another benefit is that instructors who facilitate collaborative learning environments found that their students "achieved better performance on transfer skills with less investment of mental effort than individual learners" (Chen, 2016, p. 459). Learning is acquired by undergoing the process of creating a project. In the case of real-world work-related projects, students have the opportunity to interact with live clients and develop projects that bring understanding, awareness, or solutions (Hanney, 2018). A final benefit is that project-based learners, either in real-world or service-related situations, become doers in the community and are provided networking avenues, career knowledge, and positive social change opportunities. Lancaster et al. (2022) found that students felt rewarded by their

community involvement and learned to hone written communication skills through the practice of creating and responding to documents required for their particular project.

In summary, such practical learning is oft referred to as a journey (Cheng et al., 2021) and the beneficial examples discussed here demonstrate the multitude of skills students must develop and draw upon to complete their projects. The diversity and flexibility of PBL means that students can create projects for almost any academic discipline. Collaborative learning enhances this process and encourages deep thinking, creativity, and problem-solving (Deveci, 2018).

## Challenges

PBL is not without challenges. In general, students conditioned to taking notes and focusing on test answers, objected to the PBL environment; specifically, students from all grades and subject disciplines resisted collaborative efforts and struggled to make sense of the requirements and responsibilities of the PBL classroom (Guo, et al., 2020). Lozano et al. (2017) found that, while PBL is becoming more widespread in academia, to date it is primarily the purview of science and engineering students, many of whom are high performing students. Some of these students stated that projects did not create new knowledge. A further challenge is that more thought is needed when developing appropriate curricula that allow students to increase their learning, but even well thought-out plans are difficult to implement in the face of student opposition (Hanney, 2018; Lee et al., 2014). Such requirements put additional stress on instructors unless they are given adequate training and support. Additionally, PBL requires advance instructor planning, student training, and potentially challenging tasks such as developing appropriate assessments. PBL teachers may have to use a variety of grading approaches (Fischer, 2015). There are also discipline-specific challenges as Hanney (2018) noted for students in a media class where assigned projects exceeded student capabilities. Learners in such specialized classes may be expected to have more knowledge or skills than is practical. Hanney (2018) stated that students need better preparation for such tasks or the tasks need to be modified to encourage student success.

Despite the challenges of PBL, researchers urge instructors to praise all successes and encourage self-regulated learning (Stehle, & Peters-Burton, 2019). Hanney (2018) stated that the focus of education needs to shift to emphasize the process of learning as much as the outcome. Meaningful projects have the power to affect and impact more than just the students who work on them. Teachers, administrators, and communities also have the opportunity to intersect and create significant connections that serve to broaden and enhance learning opportunities (Lancaster et al., 2022). Hanney (2018) referred to such learning experiences as transcendent and intuitive, "where creative play [is] celebrated (p. 9) with potentially endless innovative possibilities.

## **Implementation of PBL in Writing Classes**

Studies about using PBL in high school or college writing classes are scarce. This study looks at the language and writing environment, as did Hanney (2018) who promoted the idea that students become storytellers in the process of creating and presenting their projects. In a composition class, this allows students to speak and write within presentations demonstrating higher level syntax and correct use of punctuation. Provenzano (2019) found that PBL encouraged students to write with a purpose, for both

their project material and for reflection essays. By keeping journals during the project process, students were able to write informally and allowed them to concentrate on content rather than grammar rules. Boardman et al. (2021) integrated projects with novel reading and documented increased engagement with subject matter as well as with group members. This study will provide discussion from teachers about students' motivation to grow as the result of collaboration with their peers. Johri (2015) stressed that the community developed in the classroom led to improved teamwork skills and increased confidence in their own interpersonal and leadership abilities. Al Said et al., (2019) found that students had increased prospects for succeeding in a PBL classroom, specifically if they were poor test takers. PBL was used to complement the existing curriculum and added a technology component to enhance engagement and motivation. These examples support the use of PBL in writing classes, although there is still a great deal unexplored.

## **How Teachers Perceive Student Motivation**

Teachers' perceptions, knowledge, and beliefs are the foundation for student learning, and their involvement with student plays a pivotal role in affecting students' willingness and ability to learn (Tadesse et al., 2022). A primary expectation for teachers is that they will consistently observe and assess student engagement during daily lessons and activities (Seidel et al., 2020). Teachers are considered the experts in their classrooms, although levels of expertise often depend on length or variety of experiences (Stahnke & Blomeke, 2021). Such expertise allows for teachers to accurately assess the effectiveness of various teaching strategies on student performance, which includes motivation (Stahnke & Blomeke, 2021). It is worth noting that teachers often make assumptions about students based on the students' academic skills, compliance, apparent interest in a lesson or task, and reliability in doing homework. Brandmiller et al. (2020) studied those assumptions and included teacher assessment of student motivation. Interestingly, student motivation is often closely tied to teacher expectation and vice-versa. Learner-centered pedagogy focuses on students' willingness to work collaboratively, engage in critical and creative thinking, and be actively involved in their own learning process (Tadesse et al., 2022). Inquiry-based learning programs such as PBL invite students to be pro-active in the classroom, which can be perceived by the teacher as motivation and that perception may be viewed by the student as an expectation (Tadesse et al., 2022). This symbiotic behavior is often initiated by teacher expectation, but is fulfilled by student performance, which is often closely related to their motivation.

### **Summary and Conclusions**

In summary, this chapter included a review of research related to higher education composition classes, multiple facets of PBL, and student motivation. Keller's (1979) ARCS model of motivational design provided a framework for a detailed literature review. Specific topics addressed in this literature review included these: (a) PBL versus problem-based learning, (b) PBL and constructivism, (c) history of PBL, (d) PBL as a 21st century instructional strategy, (e) PBL and technology, (f) PBL benefits and challenges, (g) student perceptions of PBL strategies, (h) PBL and student motivation, (i) perceptions of PBL in writing classes, and (j) teacher perceptions of student motivation. Researchers strongly suggest that PBL needs to be considered an integral part of any school's curriculum and students should be provided opportunities to interact with community partners (Konrad et al 2020). PBL is a curriculum design that can bridge the gap between secondary education students and the community workforce (Cheng et al., 2021). Current literature addresses the lack of research on PBL effectiveness and the need to study both long and short-term value (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). In his study of collaborative learning, Cheng et al. (2021) noted that only a third of people surveyed felt confident that their learning would provide them with the skills for a career. Cheng et al. (2021) stressed that PBL is one learning design that can address this dilemma and provide a way for students to acquire such skills. One final note of summation, education has remained constant in the way it is structured for well over two centuries. Innovation is the outcome of shifting emphasis from instructing to learning. PBL is one such innovation and with each teacher or school system that uses it, more is learned and improved to give students the best possible educational experience (Johri, 2015).

In this chapter, I described my literature search strategy, discussed the conceptual framework of this study, and provided a literature review of composition, PBL, teachers as classroom experts, and student motivation. In the next chapter, I will discuss the research methodology for this basic qualitative study. I will explain the research design and rationale and the role of the researcher. I will also address issues of trustworthiness related to credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability, as well as describe ethical procedures.

#### Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore high language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. I used Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design as my conceptual framework. The perceptions being focused on in this study relate to how high school language arts teachers perceive student motivation from their experiences with PBL. Through open-ended interviews and conversation, high school teachers of different grade levels and varied degrees of teaching experience shared their lived experiences of assessing student motivation in a PBL language arts class. In this chapter, I describe the research design and rationale for a basic qualitative approach, along with my role as the researcher. I discuss the methodology in relation to participants, instrumentation, and data collection and data analysis. Additionally, I discuss trustworthiness and ethical consideration related to qualitative research.

# **Research Design and Rationale**

A basic qualitative research design was chosen for this study. The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class.

The following research question framed the study:

RQ: What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class?

Much care must be exercised when deciding what approaches can be best used to ensure a relevant and rigorous study that meets the needs for academic study. All methods have advantages and disadvantages that the researcher must ultimately weigh when choosing, while also recognizing that most research approaches and designs have a great number of commonalities (Creswell et al., 2018).

Quantitative approaches measure and quantify data, but Bloomberg and Volpe (2016) argued that "purely quantitative methods are unlikely to elicit the rich data necessary to address the proposed research purposes" (p. 178). The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. Strong qualitative data provides thick, rich data "that are vivid, are nested in a real context, and have a ring of truth that has a strong impact on [readers]" (Miles et al., 2014, p. 14). Neubauer et al (2019) suggested that qualitative methodology is used to discover multiple explanations and analyses of a subject, and as such, can be used to discover heretofore unexplored potentials of PBL as teachers evaluate their perceptions of students' motivation in a high school language arts class.

A basic qualitative approach provides the means for collecting thick, rich data without specifying a specific type of qualitative study (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The primary goal is to understand and explore perceptions of participants and to interpret and describe the phenomenon that is being studied in their lives (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). This nonnumerical analysis of information has its basis in constructivism, which means this is often an inductive study that uses observations, interviews, or archival data to create a detailed description of a phenomenon (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The real-life experiences of high school teachers and their perceptions of student motivation in their PBL language arts classes have the potential for both "informing and improving practice (Creswell, 2015, p. 255).

### **Role of the Researcher**

My role was to act as an interpretive researcher to discover and understand high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation. I did this by asking questions, listening to, and observing responses, and providing a safe and comfortable environment for participants, as well as ensuring their confidentiality (Rudestam & Newton, 2015). I was the instrument for interpreting and coding participant responses, transcribing data, and providing participants the opportunity to approve, add to, or edit their responses. Nine teacher participants came from national English teacher organizations and PBL groups on social media. Instructors have been using PBL instruction for at least two years. A virtual conferencing platform was used for interviews.

As one of the few PBL instructors at my current institution, I recognize my bias towards using PBL as one of the most effective ways to teach; however, in a sincere and honest attempt at transparency, honesty, and integrity, I practiced bracketing and epoché where I essentially made the decision to set my thoughts and biases aside to fully accept and process participant responses (Bendall, 2006). In the Greek, bracketing means "suspending belief" (Kauffer & Chemero, 2018, p. 34). Husserl (2017) stated that phenomenological reduction, also known as bracketing and epoché, gives a more objective view of real-world meanings. To ensure the integrity of the interviewer/participant interviews, no rewards or incentives were offered for participation, nor was there any conflict of interest as I did not personally know any of the potential participants. There were no other issues regarding work environment, conflicts of interest, or incentives that could contribute to ethical issues.

### Methodology

A basic qualitative research design was chosen for this study. In this section I discuss participant selection logic, instrumentation procedures for recruitment, participation, and data collection.

## **Participant Selection Logic**

The population for this study was high school language arts teachers in the United States who have taught a language arts class that used PBL as the classroom design. For this study, purposeful sampling was used to include participants who could contribute indepth observations, anecdotes, and personal perceptions (Creswell et al., 2018). This sampling strategy was appropriate and effective for my research approach because participants shared a common experience (Giorgi, 2009; Patton, 2014). I looked for participants who have previously used PBL for at least one year. These participants were identified, contacted, and recruited from three sources: two professional organizations: The National Council of Teachers of English (NCTE) and the Association for Educational Communications and Technology (AECT), and from PBL social media groups and personal learning networks.

I asked organization and social media group administrators for permission to email participants details regarding the study and their roles. I enclosed a copy of the invitation letter (Appendix A). When participants indicated interest in participating, they were asked to sign a consent form. After they consented, we agreed on a date and time to meet via a virtual conferencing platform. I had nine PBL teachers participate in this study. The small number of participants is acceptable in a qualitative study of this nature to focus on the crux of their experiences (Brew et al., 2017; Reynolds & Mayweather, 2017) and a homogenous sample can provide a more context-rich result than a completely randomized sample (Maxwell, 2013). Saturation can be inferred when multiple respondents no longer add to the discussion by repeating previous responses (Saunders et al., 2018).

### Instrumentation

The instrumentation used in this study consisted of semi structured interview questions and any necessary follow-up questions (see Appendix B). I developed the instrument for the interviews based on the research question, literature review, and conceptual framework. My interview questions were purposefully designed to answer questions that relate to all components of Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design. Participants were encouraged to answer questions freely and completely, while I withheld any commentary of my own to maintain objectivity. I wanted to obtain a better understanding of how PBL affects or does not affect student motivation. To confirm the validity of the interview questions, I had two peers with doctoral degrees read the interview script and questions to ensure alignment with my research question. I then made changes based on their recommendations.

#### **Procedures for Recruitment, Participation and Data Collection**

Participants were recruited using purposeful sampling from professional organizations and PBL social media sites. I sought permission from the organizations and social media sites to ask for volunteers. With their permission, I posted a brief outline of my study and asked for volunteers to participate, as explained in my invitation letter (Appendix A). I followed up any with interested parties and included my contact information so they were able to respond and supply their own email addresses or direct messaging information. Participation was voluntary, and participants were required to indicate willingness to participate by returning a consent form sent to their preferred email and replying, "I consent." Participants were also informed that they might exit the study at any time for any reason. They were also informed that they have the right to refuse to answer any questions. I was the sole researcher collecting data in the form of initial interviews and any necessary follow-up interviews.

Data were collected using interviews recorded on a laptop using a virtual conferencing program. As modeled by Rubin and Rubin (2012), I explained the purpose of interviews to the participants and ensured that they were willing to spend approximately one hour in the interview process, including scripted introductory information and concluding statements. I used semi structured, open-ended questions during the interview to explore teacher perceptions and used follow up questions for better understanding (Appendix B).

For all interviews, I included an interview protocol, script, and an audio recording of interview. While conducting interviews with PBL teachers, I used a laptop computer with external microphone, and I emailed reflective interview protocols. I tried to keep the interview questions to a minimum number of open-ended prompts to increase opportunities for participants to give deeper, richer answers (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The focus was on teacher perceptions of student motivation, but I was aware that revealing information might be imparted regarding teacher assessments of PBL as a learning methodology in ways other than motivation. As the researcher, I was also part of the instrumentation.

According to Archibald et al. (2019), virtual conferencing programs like Zoom are user-friendly and provide security and recording options. Zoom is also HIPPA compliant, which adds another layer of confidentiality (Archibald et al., 2019). Participants were sent instructions to access the virtual conferencing platform and were then admitted to the interview. After the interview was concluded and transcribed, I emailed participants to share my understanding of the participant's interview and provided the manuscript so that participants could confirm the accuracy of the transcript. This served as member-checking. They will be notified when the study is published if they wish to review a copy. Participants should feel appreciated for their contributions and sacrifice of time (Frankfort-Nachmia et al., 2015), so I sent thank you notes when the interviews were completed.

### **Data Analysis Plan**

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class using Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design. Interview questions corresponded to Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design. My goal was to complete the interview process withing a 4-6-week span of time. When each interview was complete, I labeled each file with the participant's number that will be assigned for confidentiality. I used the Otter transcription application, as well as enabled a virtual conferencing platform to transcribe the interviews. I listened to each recording at least twice, and I reviewed the transcriptions from the Otter transcription app and Zoom to verify accuracy. Accurate and complete fieldnotes helped guard against researcher bias (Saldaña, 2016). Microsoft Word and Delve software were used for focused coding and preliminary analysis (Dalkin, et al., 2020), and information was grouped into common threads or themes. Participants received a full transcript of their interviews, as well as a summary of coded information in the process of member checking, which helped ensure accuracy (Gunawan, 2015). Member checking allowed the participants to review their statements and ascertain their accuracy as described in this study. No discrepant cases were identified. Any researcher biases or assumptions were noted in the researcher's reflective journal to help identify and remove (bracket) such biases and assumptions.

## **Issues of Trustworthiness**

The combined components of credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability encompass trust issues, which deal with the way data are collected and interpreted (Merriam & Tisdale, 2016). Validity concerns were addressed using the matrix compiled by Maxwell (2013). Complete transparency and full disclosure with participants built trust and confidence (O'Leary, 2017). In using bracketing and epoché' my goal was to approach both the gathering and analysis of information with neutrality.

Englander (2016) advocated closely adhering to the precepts of solid, scientific research throughout each of the stages of a study and continuously confirming the data and interpretations. This advice was followed to build a solid, scientific study. Following previous protocols is essential in qualitative research because although human experiences can offer illuminating descriptions (Ravitch & Carl, 2016), those same humans can be unpredictable based on the gamut of emotions (Hammarberg et al, 2016). **Credibility** 

Credibility is also known as internal validity and is directly related to the reality of the study. It is also one of the best ways of establishing the trustworthiness of the study. Merriam and Tisdell (2016) refer to credibility as the confidence that the study measures what it was intended to measure. To ensure personal credibility as the researcher, I practiced bracketing and epoché'. According to Husserl (2017), the acknowledgment of one's interest in a subject and the decision to set such biased interests aside, propels the researcher to greater objectivity. Sources for gathering data include open-ended, semi-structured interviews that will encourage detailed and thoughtful responses. I sent a draft to two colleagues with doctoral degrees who reviewed and analyzed the data and my analysis. These colleagues provided feedback and the opportunity for me to improve my analysis, thus adding to the credibility of this study. Using member checks and peer reviews helped confirm findings. Member checks allowed participants to review a summary of their recorded interviews and a brief analysis by the researcher to offer clarification and ensure accuracy. Completed transcript summaries sent to participants for member checks allowed for feedback in the forms of clarification or additional pertinent information.

## Transferability

Transferability is also referred to as external validity and the ability to apply the study to other environments or generalizing the information to fit other contexts (Miles et al., 2014). The methodology, participant selection and interview process, and the data explored and collected should be described in such a way that other researcher can transfer the information to their own studies (Creswell & Creswell 2018). One of the ways to inform transferability is through the use of thick, rich data and detailed descriptions to assess similarity (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Diverse participants who have varied experiences teaching basic, honors, AP classes, or grade levels also helped ensure that the study could be conveniently replicated in or transferred to multiple educational settings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). Such data and descriptions could be further explored and used for comparable research.

# Dependability

Dependability indicates a qualitative study that is reliable. The results of a similar study based on this study, with different participants, should still have similar outcomes. Reliability refers to the ability to replicate the study, and details of the study's processes through researcher's written field notes and transparency through peer reviews are two ways to increase reliability. However, Merriam and Tisdell (2016) stated "researcher seek to describe and explain the world as those in the world experience it" (p. 250). Thus, while very similar studies can be conducted, absolute replication is neither possible, nor

the goal of a qualitative study. As the researcher for this study, I kept careful notes regarding each step I took to obtain, understand, and explain data in such a way that other researchers may replicate the study and reinforce the results.

## Confirmability

Confirmability deals with maintaining objectivity throughout the study. This includes avoidance or explanations of bias, transparency with participants and data collection and analysis (Miles et al., 2014). It also means the ability of others to duplicate this study. Confirmability is founded on the premise that the data provided by participant's perspectives is based on their experiences with PBL and not my own (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). One way to achieve this was to purposefully withhold my comments and only ask questions to clarify understanding of what participants voice throughout the interview process. Their words will be recorded verbatim and I used direct quotes from their interviews. As a researcher, I maintained neutrality and provided details for each process of this study by making the conscious decision to set aside my own opinions and beliefs about PBL and student motivation and I kept detailed notes regarding the way in which data were collected. Members of my committee provided feedback to ensure my research is objective.

# **Ethical Procedures**

Ethical procedures followed all guidelines outlined in the Institutional Review Board (IRB) as part of my IRB application. The IRB application was completed and submitted. Participants are over 18 and their treatment was in accordance with IRB guidelines, primarily addressing voluntary participation and confidentiality. Transparency and informed consent are the overarching concepts of teacher participation (Holloway & Galvin, 2016). Participation was voluntary, and participants had the opportunity to withdraw from the study at any time without consequence. Each participant received a letter of consent sent via email, and their response, "I consent" was all that ass required. I saved all letters of consent electronically. Confidentiality was maintained throughout the study (Remley & Herlihy, 2014) and participants were assigned numbers so no names were attached to interview files. I kept a separate file that showed which numbers were assigned to specific participants. This file was kept on my personal computer. Interviews were conducted through virtual conferencing and were recorded and analyzed. Once analysis and interpretation were completed, data was stored and will be kept according to Walden University's guidelines and any hard copy written material will be destroyed in accordance with their instructions. Other ethical issues have been addressed as necessary, including a plan for safely storing data on an encrypted hard drive and the assurance that data files would be destroyed within five to seven years after the completion of this study.

### Summary

The purpose of this study was to explore and understand how PBL affects student motivation as perceived by their instructors. In this section, I discussed my design rationale, methodology, participant selection, and ethical considerations. A qualitative study is a science-based study that uses open-ended interview questions to collect thick, rich descriptions of the participants' lived experiences (Maxwell, 2013). This careful, methodical process was designed to ensure solid, scientific research and analysis. Insights into understanding high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student response to PBL as a motivational classroom design allowed a deeper assessment of the PBL approach. Chapter 4 describes the findings and results of this study. Teacher perceptions of student motivation are explored based on my research question. Chapter 5 includes my final interpretation of collected data, the social implications for future practice, and my recommendations for further studies.

#### Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. The study focused on answering the following research question: What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class? In this chapter, I will present the study results and an analysis of the data collected via Zoom interviews with nine PBL high school instructors. I will also describe setting and demographic information, the data collection process, and the data analysis including identified codes, categories, and themes. This chapter ends with a further discussion of issues of trustworthiness and results of the study, and a chapter summary.

## Setting

Participants for this study were recruited from social media sites and participant referrals. The PBL social media site exists for anyone interested in PBL but is focused primarily on teachers sharing PBL strategies. Several interested teachers tagged their colleagues and helped cast a wider net for potential participants.

One condition that may have influenced interview responses was that three of the participants were in a start-up PBL program for at-risk students. These teachers were allowed to deviate from the traditional standards-based instruction to a broader competency-based assessment. Thus, during their initial year of teaching, there was a trial-and-error learning curve for the instructors. There are no other known personal or organizational conditions that influenced participants' accounts of their experiences and interpretation of the study results.

# **Demographics**

Nine high school teachers participated in this study, and all the participants taught in traditional face-to face institutions during their PBL instruction. Table 1 briefly describes participant demographics. Summaries of each of the participants are given here.

Participant 1 was a high school language arts teacher with a PhD and almost thirty years of teaching experience encompassing all grade levels. Participant 2, with a master's degree in education, taught high school language arts for twenty-five years before retiring. Participant 3, with a master's degree, was part of a PBL team teaching faculty where all three teachers taught all the subjects. Participant 4 has a master's degree and has taught both middle school and high school English classes. Participant 5, with a master's in educational technology, was also part of the team-teaching faculty. Participant 5 taught English classes for nearly twenty years, and left education to work in local government. Participant 6 has a PhD in clinical psychology and was part of the team-teaching PBL faculty where she taught writing skills and social/emotional learning. After 30-plus years of teaching, Participant 6 retired to become a full-time counselor. Participant 7 has a master's degree in English and taught for fifteen years, specializing in at-risk students in both middle and high school. Participant 8, with a master's degree in English, taught in a combined middle and high school for fourteen years. Participant 9 has been teaching for twenty-eight years and has a master's degree in education. All participants used PBL as a classroom methodology for at least three years. Three participants are still actively using PBL in their classrooms. One participant is currently

teaching in a traditional classroom setting but is actively pursuing employment at an all-

PBL charter school.

# Table 1

## **Demographics**

Participant	Location	Gender	Years Teaching	Degree	Levels Taught	Current Status
1	Southeastern USA	F	20+	PhD	Basic skills, AP	Active PBL
2	Southeastern USA	F	20+	Master's	Basic skills, Honors	Retired
3	Northeastern USA	F	15	Master's	PBL Academy For at -risk students	Local Government
4	Northeastern USA	М	10	Master's	PBL Academy For at -risk students	Traditional Classroom
5	Northeastern USA	F	12	Master's	PBL Academy For at -risk students	Active PBL
6	Southeastern USA	F	20+	PhD	Basic skills, Honors, AP	Counselor
7	Northeastern USA	F	15	Master's	PBL Academy For at -risk students	Retired
8	Southeastern USA	F	14	Master's	PBL Academy For at -risk students	Elementary Classroom
9	Northeastern USA	F	20+	Master's	Basic skills, Honors, AP	Active PBL

### **Data Collection**

The following section describes the data collection process. There were no variations in data collection from the plan presented in Chapter 3. Participants for this study were recruited from PBL social media sites. I sent invitation letters to a total of 14 potential participants after they expressed interest in this study. I sent an additional inquiry to participants who said they wanted to participate, but who never responded to an interview appointment request. Ultimately, nine teachers volunteered and consented to be part of the study. As seen in Table 1, participants ranged in experience from 10 to 20+ years of teaching and taught a broad range of academic levels.

All participants were interviewed using Zoom videos. Interviews were all approximately 40-60 minutes in duration. Data were transcribed via Zoom transcription. To obtain maximum accuracy, the recordings were rewatched with captions, and any necessary corrections were made. All participants were emailed a copy of their transcripts, and no discrepancies were noted.

### **Data Analysis**

## **Analysis Overview**

I used the software managements system Delve in combination with Microsoft Word. Both software programs were simple to use as organizational tools. It is important to note that there were no discrepant data during data analysis. Data were broadly sorted into Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design categories during the first inductive round of coding. I began with the a priori codes of attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction; however, I also looked for other significant emergent codes that might be revealed in the data. Using a thesaurus, appropriate synonyms for each of the categories were also included using the Find tool in Microsoft Word. Emergent themes included collaboration, control, challenges, teacher feedback on implementation and need for PBL, and stories. Table 2 shows the first round of codes and number of responses found in the interview transcripts.

## Table 2

First Round of Codes	Total
Attention	1
Engage	23
Consideration	5
Response	4
Interest	17
Relevance	16
Significant	4
Important	24
Meaning	5
Confidence	24
Belief	4
Trust	2
Empowerment	3
Satisfaction	20
Enjoyment	17
Pride	11
Success	11
Collaboration	4
Teams	6
Group Work	60
Connect	15
Control	7
Power	9
Management	5
Direction	6
Challenges	13
Teacher Feedback on Implementation and Need for PBL	30
Stories	22

First Round Codes and Number of Responses

Round two of coding combined similar themes. It was in this stage that decisions needed to be made regarding the emergent themes. Collaboration was considered as a separate theme, but it seemed clear and reasonable based on participant responses that collaboration was part of the attention category. Every participant provided multiple stories as their responses to the interview questions. These stories were fondly related, and it was necessary to carefully isolate codes that were embedded in the retelling of these stories not only experienced by the students, but clearly by the teachers, as well. These stories were full of anecdotal details regarding the set-up for PBL, emotional impact on students and communities, and effects that were observed years after the projects were completed. Ultimately, I decided the stories could be set aside as they were the vehicle used to identify student responses to PBL. Other secondary themes based on the five topics emerged and were ultimately synthesized into four single themes, one each for the four Keller categories, and thus, the aforementioned a priori codes. One significant theme that emerged separate from the primary focus of this study was the professional thoughts of teachers on a more widespread educational implementation of PBL. Ultimately, that topic was considered a recommendation for further research and not strictly related to student motivation.

Round three included a deep exploration of existing codes that included color coding to clearly delineate commonalities. There was some overlap for some of the categories, and decisions had to be made regarding the best intent of participant responses. Round four of deductive coding resulted in confirming the four primary topics: attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction. Blair (2015) noted that using a priori coding necessitated a thorough scrutiny of the data to ensure there is enough data to support such coding.

The final four themes became declarative sentences that captured the essence of teachers' perceptions of student motivation in PBL classes.

• Attention: Students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning.

- Relevance: Students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important – often related to current social issues and local community needs.
- Confidence: Students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience.
- Satisfaction: Students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community.

## **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

# Credibility

To ensure credibility, several strategies were used to establish a foundation for this research. All participants were emailed copies of their transcribed interviews and requested to review the interviews and correct any necessary data or add additional thoughts. None of the participants noted any discrepancies, nor did they have any additional information. I continually made sure that the information reported was aligned with the problem statement and purpose of this study. I adhered to the tenets of transparency by openly discussing biases, participant selection challenges, and difficulties encountered during the coding stage. Additionally, my coding protocol was reviewed by two colleagues with doctoral degrees, and both were satisfied with the coding and thematic processes. I reviewed their feedback and made the appropriate adjustments.
## Transferability

Thick, rich descriptions allow other researchers to perform their own research on PBL and/or motivation, or another subject to achieve similar, or possibly improved, results. I described my methodology, participant selection process, and demographic insights regarding my participants. The participants had varied teaching experiences. Some taught multiple grades and split their teaching between standard classes and advanced, and some taught in a team teaching construct. While they all had PBL instruction in common, several moved onto other career choices. This information also included a general location, number of years teaching experience, skill levels taught, and their own education level. I also discussed how the interviews were conducted, the length of the interviews, and my interview questions (see Appendix B).

### Dependability

Dependability means that the results of a similar study based on this study, but with different participants, should have similar outcomes. To ensure reliability of the study, I have included the details of my processes, including the peer review of my study and the coding processes and details gleaned from my field notes throughout the interview stage. I also used member-checks so that participants could ensure the integrity of their transcribed interviews. While it is improbable that a study can be replicated exactly, the information provided allows other researchers to perform a highly similar study.

#### Confirmability

Confirmability deals with maintaining objectivity throughout the study. I shared my potential biases, and my plan to maintain neutrality. As a researcher, I made the conscious decision to set aside my own opinions and beliefs about PBL and student motivation. Participants' words were recorded verbatim, and I provided direct quotes from their interviews. Table 2 highlights the initial number of results from the first round of coding. I also provided direct quotes from each of the participants in the attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction categories in Table 3. As all the responses came through storytelling, I chose to leave the responses in a narrative form. Within the direct quotes, several participants included recalled quotes from students.

#### Results

The purpose of this qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. The phenomenon being focused on in this study is high school teachers' perceptions of students' motivation to learn in a PBL language arts course, and the question being asked is: What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class? There were no discrepant cases found in any of the gathered data. After one round of inductive coding, a priori codes were chosen to narrow the focus. These codes were directly related to Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design: attention, relevance, confidence, and satisfaction.

## Table 3

A Priori Codes	Synonyms	Interview Questions	Themes
Attention/Engagement	Engage Consideration Response Interest	Thinking about your project-based learning experiences, share a story about a time when you could tell students were engaged with their subject. How is student engagement different when you use project- based learning?	Students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning.
Relevance	Significant Important Meaning	How do students personalize their projects to make them more relevant?	Students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important – often related to current social issues and local community needs.
Confidence	Belief Trust Empowerment	What have you noticed about student confidence as they complete their projects?	Students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience.
Satisfaction	Enjoyment Pride Success	How would you describe students' levels of satisfaction when they are finished with their projects?	Students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community.

# Codes and Participant Responses

# Attention/Engagement

The first theme is attendance/engagement. Students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning. All of the participants emphasized the deliberate engagement of students in the PBL classroom. While it was not always immediate and not necessarily 100% of the students, the majority of students finished the class with remarkable attention to the tasks at hand and a preference for PBL

over traditional classroom instruction. Keller (1999) states that attention is sustaining active interest for a meaningful period of time. Participant 7 put it this way:

These are the disengaged kids. We're asking them to look for a need in the community. And what are ways to respond to that need? And what that ends up doing was empowering these kids, and initially, they're very skeptical like, "I can't have any impact on this problem in the community" and then as they think about it, they're like, "Wow! Well, what if we did blah blah," and then they would start to actually become engaged learners, because it actually started to matter.

Participant 8:

It took a lot for me to engage them in the beginning, but once they're engaged like you get that hook. If the leader or the teacher invests that time in the beginning, then they take off because they own it. And it's not me trying to spoon-feed them all away. It's not me trying to like just kind of pull them, pull them along through a unit. It's not a slogging through. It's them trying to answer a question, so they want to answer this question. So, they're moving, you know, into that next thing. Participant 9:

Gosh! They enjoy, too, the nontraditional piece of it, because a classroom doesn't look like a traditional classroom. So sometimes it looks like a hot mess. It looks chaotic sometimes, because everyone's kind of doing something. Students enjoy also because it's project based and students are leading it.

Regarding collaborative work and engagement, Participant 1 stated:

Well, I think what they do is they tend to discuss things with each other more, because if we're just reading and answering questions, they get the who they think is the smartest kid in the class to answer all the questions, and then they just copy them from him or her, to whereas if they're doing a project they're actually talking to each other. They're talking to people in their own group. They're talking to other students in the class. They're looking at other students' projects and making comments. And then [they say], "Oh, hey! This! We could use that same kind of idea, and let's do it this way." So, I see a lot of communication going on whenever they're doing the projects in comparison to just answering questions from a book.

Participant 5 stated:

But when you get into the creativity aspects of it, and the application of it, you can find projects, so I would say at least 70% of my students to 80% of my students wanted more projects to work collaboratively.

Students had two projects in a class. One dealt with anti-bullying and the other was an art project that involved recreating a classic painting in an updated way.

Participant 5 stated:

There was a lot more fluidity and creativity that was flowing, whereas in the other one (the anti-bullying project) they knew that the end result was a presentation that could be used for the school. They enjoyed it as far as the anti-bullying campaign. But then, when it came to the creativity one, some of my answers, when I asked my kids to do their end survey was, they wanted to be able to do more than one.

Teachers responded positively and enthusiastically when summing up student engagement.

Participant 7:

They felt like they were doing something important, and part of those projects, those service-learning projects, was, we always had an event at the end, and I would contact all the local news outlets, and they would come cover it, and the kids would see their pictures in the newspaper. As I say, these were the kids who'd been identified as bad kids, difficult kids, and impossible kids. And here they were being celebrated for doing this amazing thing for the community, and that just turns their brains on. They're like, "Oh, I can actually achieve something. And oh, yes, it actually matters that I can," you know, right?

Participant 8:

I think it was it was a palpable vibration in the classroom, right?

So, there's a buzz! And laugh and like a talking over each other on topic when

kids are really authentically engaged. And so there was a lot of that that happened.

Participant 9:

They're leading the pieces of this puzzle to put it together. I think that they enjoy that piece. And students kind of will step in to some roles that you haven't seen them in before. They kind of are like now, you know, "I've realized now, like I really am invested in this piece of this project." And I feel like an expert in this, and I, you know, see students like who didn't care much about anything prior to all of a sudden, they're like "I think I'm the only one who's going to be allowed to like do this piece of it because. I feel like I could do it the best." And I'm like, Wow! You know, they take pride in something which is which is huge, because, again, oftentimes you don't see students find something that makes them proud like that.

### Relevance

The second theme is relevance. Students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important – often related to current social issues and local community needs. Recognizing students' perceptions of relevance was more challenging than identifying attention. Occasionally, there was initial interest in a project, but making a clear connection between their learning experiences and outside goals and interests (Keller, 2010) was often delayed until the students were either fully invested in their projects or the projects were completed.

## Participant 7 shared this insight:

These really are your least academically engaged, not stupid. I mean, these are by and large, very bright kids who, just for whatever reason in their life, have just not been able to engage with school. And what I found was that when we had kids actually doing something that engages them in the wider community they started to see relevance to the to the things that we were trying to teach them academically. I really think that project based is so important at that age level because teenagers from the experience I have from raising my own and teaching a lot of others they're all looking for acceptance. They're all searching for value. "Why am I learning this?" They want to be valued, and when you give them a chance to learn with and through a project where they get to bring a piece of themselves into it, the value shows all the way around, and they are connected to that project. They are connected to that learning in very specific ways, like when they've had the opportunity to say, "I think, I feel, I know" because they've had their hands on something. It's so much more meaningful than to have just read a chapter in a book and try to say the same things.

Participant 5:

So, most of them were very proud to be able to share their work. And that, too, is such a boost for students. And what an amazing thing! You know I'm a shy person sometimes, and to have that ability at a young age to be able to share what you've learned, and something that's really definitely relevant.

### Confidence

The third theme is confidence, where students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience. While increased attention/engagement was a noticeable student response to PBL, increased student confidence was the most identifiable characteristic associated with PBL outcomes. Student confidence is based on the belief that success is possible through overcoming challenges in the attainment of that success (Keller, 2010a).

Confidence is a more internal process that focuses on ability and self-assurance.

Participants noted multiple examples of greater self-confidence within their students.

Participant 4:

Anyone can earn a grade; anyone can do content. But these kids found value like in themselves. That's so powerful. It really is.

Participant 7:

I don't think I'm overstating this. I think it was transformative for a lot of kids who might have had some personal confidence in a very particular social scene among their peers, but just like I am an individual with agency in my own life, I found the kids really getting to a place of feeling like "Oh, no, actually, I could go to college."

Participant 8:

And like, so there was so much more confidence, I mean, and some of them is, you know, a lot of them, they were like their sense of "I can do this, and I have a voice, and my voice is worth being heard, and I know how to get my voice heard with a little help from somebody else." That is the thing that that boosted their confidence through the course.

Participant 1:

They feel confident that they've learned something through the project. Yeah, they do. So, they'll tell me things like "I didn't know that before," or "that was an interesting fact," or "I'd like to know a little bit more about that particular thing." Participant 2: I think their skills grew. Their, you know, their soft skills. Then researching and typing and definitely their communication skills getting up in front of the class and talking. I mean, they definitely grew in confidence, you know, in that area. I think that's so important, too, that one of the things that we're missing a lot in some classes is that we're making everything performance based instead of helping students internalize these things, helping them actually be better learners. Participant 8:

When we did the book of poetry, they were, they were proud of themselves. Their confidence in their ability to understand art, even if their confidence in how to write a poem did not increase a lot for those kids who are very, "I'm not good at poetry," - their ability to talk about art in a meaningful way, you know, definitely their confidence increased in that.

Participant 3:

And project based gives you so much more at the end of the project, because you've tried the things that don't work, and you've figured out the things that do work instead of just is this making any sense instead of just going at you know how do you answer this specific question in an essay format. You've knocked it out in five paragraphs. How does this happen? And he or she's taking time and components and thought processing, critical thinking. And I just think it makes for such a stronger learning experience.

Participant 6:

And so we did that [project], and that was a lot of fun, and that brought a lot of confidence that happened within the students because they got excited. And it was based on their ideas they were coming up with. When they presented it to the kids, they really took ownership in it and did a great job of answering questions and just owning it, and what I really liked about it, too, is, they owned where mistakes happened so that they could learn from it. I thought that was really helpful. It's so important. You know, it's part of the growth process.

Participant 8:

I think that by turning it into a project there is an investment level that is higher for the students, or at least the way that I think of project-based learning, I mean the way that I think of it by definition. I'm giving them some sense of choice. I'm giving them some sense of ownership, and I'm stepping back like I'm scaffolding it. So that here's the parameters of the thing that you need to do. Now go! Go! Do the thing and because they're the ones that are doing the thing, their confidence increases more so than you know.

## Satisfaction

The fourth theme is satisfaction. Students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community. Keller (2010a) found that students need to experience satisfaction or a feeling of fulfillment based on their pleasure with the class outcomes and their increased sense of motivation and commitment towards accomplishing future goals. Contrasted with confidence, which is primarily an inner acknowledgement of capability, satisfaction is the outward acknowledgement of a successful completion with both the task (process) and the final outcome. This was supported by teacher perceptions of student satisfaction upon completion of their projects.

#### Participant 6:

So, I think that satisfaction is really individualized, based on how much they let go of the control that they need. And especially with here, where they're everything is controlled for them. They have very little control. So that's I mean, that's a that's a huge thing, especially for those who, you know, hopefully, will be leaving the system and something that they can't take from them. "You know what? I do have a sense of accomplishment."

Participant 3:

Oh, well, we built a free food pantry But while we were doing it, the physical measuring and building and cutting and painting, and putting it together and they're like, what is this for? When we got it installed, and when they realized that, yeah, the food is actually free, it's actually feeding people. In some cases, their own families, and they could put stuff in, but they could also take stuff out. And it wasn't wrong to just take it. When they finally saw it and realized and then saw it stay there for a number of years. You know, that was a real moment for some of them. A real moment of "Wow. I really contributed to this, and it's going to be meaningful for me because I'll be able to benefit."

Participant 2:

Satisfaction came from them seeing that it's not just all on the computer.

It's not just what I read that I need to really go talk to other people, and to get, you know, a bigger perspective. Get more of a perspective than just you know their own perspective it's what they're reading on the Internet. So, I think I think that helped with their satisfaction.

Participant 7:

I do want to stress how important I think it is that at least in the case of the kids we were working with, that they'd be service learning projects because the community service piece of it was a huge piece of the empowerment that was so important to these kids coming to feel like they had agency in their life.

Participant 8:

They were interviewed by local reporters, and you know, and that was a lot of. external validation, that what they were doing was valued in the community, or interesting at least, and I think that that that recognition let them to, added to I would say they're feeling of satisfaction. But they also knew that what they did was really huge, right? So, at the end, what they had in front of them was this compilation of work that I believe, gave them a lot of satisfaction.

Participant 6:

I think in the end, if you ask after the project is over, if you talk to them, their pride and presenting it to other people like showing off their work and feeling really good about what they've done.

And finally, Participant 2 summed up the PBL experience as observed in her classroom, stating:

You know, this is probably going to sound like very ethereal. But I really think that project based is so important at that age level because teenagers, from the experience I have from raising my own and teaching a lot of others, they're all looking for acceptance. They're all searching for value. "Why am I learning this?" They want to be valued, and when you give them a chance to learn with and through a project where they get to bring a piece of themselves into it, the value shows all the way around, and they are connected to that project. They are connected to that learning in very specific ways.

### Summary

This study focused on one central research question: What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class? Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design was the conceptual framework that provided a foundation for the four a priori codes that resulted in four themes that answered the research question: (a) active participation in and ownership of learning, (b) personal meaning related to assignments, (c) a sense of pride and autonomy derived from the learning experience, and (d) resulting self-worth and power upon completion of projects. These themes will be discussed further in Chapter 5.

Chapter 5 begins with a deeper investigation of this study's findings. Limitations, recommendation, and implication are explored. Finally, Chapter 5 concludes with a discussion about social change and how this study can inform educational practices in today's schools.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to explore high school language arts teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a PBL class. The literature explores PBL and its role as a motivational teaching methodology. The focus of this study was to gain insight into how teachers perceive the use of PBL to inspire student motivation in the classroom. While PBL has been primarily used in science classes, little is known about the motivational efficacy of PBL in high school language arts classes. This gap in the literature was addressed by interviewing high school language arts teachers individually using semi-structured open-ended questions to gain knowledge about the motivational effects of PBL.

This study focused on the research question: What are high school language arts teachers' perceptions of PBL and its influence on their students' learning and motivation? Four themes emerged from the data. These themes were as follows: (a) attention/engagement: students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning; (b) relevance: students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important – often related to current social issues and local community needs; (c) confidence: students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience; and (d) satisfaction: students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community.

Participants shared stories focused on a wide variety of projects that made it clear that PBL had a positive motivational impact on students. The results revealed that most students responded favorably in the PBL environment, and that the teachers also had strong, positive attitudes about using PBL as a teaching methodology.

#### **Interpretation of the Findings**

Analysis of the findings identified four main themes regarding PBL as a motivational classroom methodology. The results of this study show that these four attributes are each essential components of motivation and are clearly evident within a PBL classroom. Analysis of this data confirms previous studies about motivation and adds the PBL teaching methodology to the body of knowledge.

### **Attention/Engagement**

Levels of attention and engagement in a PBL classroom emerged as a strong theme. Shadiev et al. (2020) stated that the constructivist underpinnings of PBL supports student-created knowledge and personal responsibility for successful implementation and completion of projects. Participants noted that it was initially difficult to overcome students' remarks, indicating they felt PBL required too much effort, and they preferred simpler tasks such as worksheets. As Participant 8 shared, "It took a lot for me to engage them in the beginning, but once they're engaged like you get that hook." This bears out Avsec and Jagiello-Kowalczyk's (2021) findings that students, and, to a certain extent, teachers, have become habituated to passive learning rather than the participatory structure of PBL. As Guo et al. (2020) posited, once students accepted the challenges of PBL, many students were motivated by self-directed learning and the opportunity to create their own projects (Shadiev et al., 2020). Students relished the experiences and often asked to continue their education through PBL. Dinis-Carvalho et al. (2017) stated that classroom relationships increased student motivation because groups created a sense of belonging. Several participants observed that students also enjoyed group work that was characterized by energetic discussions and communal problem-solving that created "can-do" mindsets. Thus, students became active participants in a community of believers and took ownership of their learning.

Despite the challenges of introducing PBL as a new methodology, once students agreed to a buy-in, their behaviors became more positive. Visible thinking (Stehle & Peters-Burton, 2019) was observed by teachers as students worked through the PBL process. Participants noted that students often appeared to be creating chaos at the beginning of their learning and problem-solving, but also noted that this chaos seemed to excite the students. Participant 8 called it a "palpable vibration" and a "buzz" in the classroom as students grew more involved and excited with their projects. This also speaks to student responsiveness, which is a key factor in the sustained attention to which Keller (1999) refers.

## Relevance

The theme of relevance was more challenging to define. Keller (2010a) described relevance as the connections students make between their academic learning and outside goals and interests. Participants 7 and 8 observed that students had initial reservations about PBL tasks until they were well into the projects or had actually completed them, but PBL allows students to own their work on projects that encourage them to look beyond the classroom (Chen et al., 2019). Participant 9 shared that students enjoyed "the nontraditional piece of it because a classroom doesn't look like a traditional classroom."

Galvan and Greenhow (2019) stated that most students need a real-world application for that "aha" moment of relevance. PBL provides a fertile environment for students to experience practical learning related to personal and professional goals (Dinis-Carvalho et al., 2017). Participant 7 shared that students had fun with the hands-on public events where they reveled in the personal connections and felt pride in seeing their efforts shared with a larger community audience. For the students, Participant 7 noted that "this reaction "just turns their brains on," and the students developed attitudes that said, "Oh, I can actually achieve something. And oh, yes, it actually matters." This opportunity to see the relevance of their projects in a broader application deepens student learning and allows them to reflect on further possibilities as seen in Du (2020). Positive social change projects allow students to go beyond the mere learning of facts and to interpretation and application of their knowledge in meaningful ways, as concluded by Guo et al. (2020).

One such project shared by the students of the team-teaching participants was the building of a community food bank. Students were able to access the food bank for themselves and their families, as well as provide for the community at large. Students created recipes with the donated ingredients and shared a food bank feast to kick off the grand opening. One student discovered a love for cooking through this project and became a chef after graduation. In this regard, PBL created a pathway for students to move from novices with basic head knowledge to experts in the realm of their experience, which is similar to the findings of Al Said et al. (2019). Students found personal meaning in assignments and felt they were doing something important, often related to current social issues and local community needs.

### Confidence

The theme of confidence had a strong showing based on participants' perceptions of their students' responses to the PBL experience. Keller (2010a) stated that confidence is birthed from successfully overcoming challenges when working towards a desired goal. As related to PBL, Du et al. (2020) stated that confidence is a complex attribute related to classroom autonomy, community connections, and student enthusiasm, which includes their motivation. Participants 7 shared that students enjoyed sharing their efforts with a public audience, "being celebrated for doing this amazing thing for the community" and participated in activities they never thought possible such as public speaking and organization of group events.

PBL provides a vehicle for students to grow in confidence as they work through projects navigating collaborative learning, critical thinking challenges, and the reality of deadlines (Henri et al., 2017). Participants enthusiastically described the joy and increased confidence exhibited by their students when they successfully completed their projects. Participant 7 said that this experience was "transformative for a lot of kids," and Participant 6 said that the projects were very enjoyable "and that brought a lot of confidence…because they [the students] got excited." Students who doubted their ability to succeed at much of anything suddenly found a plethora of possibilities that lay before them. Al Said et al. (2019) found similar results when observing student responses to well-executed PBL experiences. Students developed a sense of pride in their accomplishments and abilities and enjoyed increased autonomy in the learning experience.

#### Satisfaction

Satisfaction comes from the successful culmination of positive engagement, acknowledged relevance, and increased self-confidence. According to Keller (2010a), students need to experience satisfaction based on their happiness with the class outcomes and a new or renewed commitment towards accomplishing future goals. Participants 3 shared that the students found their service projects empowering, "A real moment of 'wow! I...contributed to this, and it's going to be meaningful to me," and the successful creation and implementation of these projects gave students a greater sense of agency in their lives. Participant 7 shared that "the community service…was a huge piece of the empowerment that was so important to these kids." Students truly felt their horizons were expanded, and they recognized not only the value in their classroom and community contributions, but also recognized that they were valued by those who observed and benefited from those contributions.

Participants noted that they provided students with the opportunity to reflect on their encounter with PBL. Participant 6 shared that the pride in their work and the ability to share what they had done with others left students, "feeling really good about what they've done." The process of reflecting allows students to process their end of experience assessment of and satisfaction with collaborative work, project creations and outcomes, overall learning and assignment evaluations, and their feelings of success (Al Said et al., 2019). Participants also found that encouraging reflection of their PBL education journey supported the claim of Du et al. (2020) calling the reflection process empowering as students analyze and synthesize their PBL learning into every part of their lives. Participant 3 shared that students recognized the value of their contributions to a project and felt connected to the project. "They are connected to that learning in very specific ways, like when they've had the opportunity to say, 'I think, I feel, I know' because they've had their hands on something. It's so much more meaningful than to have just read a chapter in a book and try to say the same things." Ultimately, students felt a greater sense of self-worth and were inspired to believe their actions could have a positive impact on the community.

#### **General Findings**

As an innovative teaching methodology, PBL shines is the area of positively affecting student learning (Chen et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2020). All nine participants in this study agreed that PBL was a mutually beneficial and enriching teaching and learning experience. High quality PBL encompasses collaborative groups, student-led instruction, problem-solving that develops critical thinking skills, and the development and presentation of a meaningful project that answers a significant question, preferably involving real-world application (Allison, 2018). Participants reported that each of these components played a part in encouraging students to make greater efforts in their creativity and took pride in the quality of their work.

Participants reported that students who were profiled as at risk, marginalized, or otherwise challenging, seemed to find purpose and great success in the PBL environment. Prior research indicates that academically, PBL has been shown to improve student performance in many areas including test taking (Al Said et al., 2019). Cheng et al. (2021) noted that PBL bridges the gap between knowledge and real-world practice by helping provide students with applicable career skills. Manganelli et al. (2019) stated that students achieved greater personal, academic, and social goals when they were motivated, whether intrinsically or extrinsically. Participants shared heartwarming anecdotes of these students eventually embracing the academic rigor of PBL and experience triumphant, life-enhancing accomplishments. Participants shared that students enjoyed the non-traditional classroom, they engaged in meaningful discussions with group members and classmates, and they took risks that ultimately created deep inner confidence and overall satisfaction with their learning experience.

#### Limitations of the Study

The limitation of this study were recruiting enough teachers who used a PBL methodology in their language arts classrooms. Nine participants volunteered to be interviewed and data saturation was apparent and noted after the fourth participant. As Saunders et al. (2018) stated that saturation may be inferred when participants begin repeating information. The sample size may, however, limit the transferability of the study, but given the variations in grade levels and course programs, transferability is certainly attainable.

Another limitation was the team teaching construct shared by four participants. Three of those participants were charged with the initial implementation of PBL, which meant they had a greater timespan for trial and error. Those participants stayed with the program for three years, so they had more stability in their teaching environment after the first year. The fourth team teacher replaced one of the outgoing teachers and also had to learn how to implement PBL as well as the team-teaching rhythms. However, given the collaborative nature of PBL, it is possible that collaborative teaching also had similar benefits for teachers as those experienced by students.

#### Recommendations

The results of this study are encouraging. Further research on administrative support is recommended to explore the potential impact of PBL as a schoolwide or districtwide methodology. Every participant in this study spoke positively about student responses to PBL, and they also spoke passionately about their experiences as the teachers. Professional development forums could focus on the implementation of PBL in individual classes. Participants stated that they felt a great deal of support was necessary at the administrative level. Second, further research on post-high school students and the effects of PBL on their career choices could provide foundational information of the lasting impact of PBL. Participants shared several stories where students learned skills while working on projects that led to stable and long lasting career choices.

A third recommendation would be to explore the use of PBL at the college level. Institutions of higher education have been slower to embrace student-led learning, opting for the more traditional lecture format. While there have been some changes, PBL is a highly motivational classroom design that has great potential for all the disciplines. Institutions that are seeking greater connectivity with the community workforce agencies may find that PBL is the ideal bridge for that gap.

A fourth recommendation is to research how PBL affects teachers. Every participant had multiple stories that focused on student performance, but the consistent underlying tenor was one of pride in the accomplishments of their students and true joy that these teachers got to be a part of this learning adventure. Exploring teacher satisfaction with student performance, satisfaction with their own careers, and satisfaction with community engagement are just a few topics that are suitable for study.

### Implications

The following is a discussion of PBL and its effects on social change and theoretical implications based on this study.

#### **Social Change**

One of the major tenets of Walden University is the emphasis on positive social change. PBL is an all-encompassing, diverse teaching methodology that encourages multiple levels of positive social change. On an individual level, students develop and demonstrate an array of academic and personal skills (Cheng et al., 2021). These skills lend themselves to a greater positivity regarding education and career choices.

Additionally, at the community level, PBL has been a proven conduit for improving the lives and circumstances of countless individuals and organizations. Students lead the way in answering the call for a variety of necessary services in the community (Lancaster et al., 2022) and often share in attainment of improved physical, social, and emotional benefits. As Guo et al. (2020) stated, positive social change projects created through PBL leads students into environments where they interpret and apply what they have learned. As PBL is embraced by more school districts, the increased student engagement and community connections create endless positive possibilities.

#### **Theoretical Implications**

Because PBL is a flexible teaching methodology, it is adaptable to numerous learning situations. Open-minded and creative instructors who already use PBL need to be joined by other teachers and administrations ready to embrace the risks of PBL in order to achieve greater academic, social, and personal benefits. Boosting creative thinking in inquiry-based learning skills provides a foundation for future academic and employment opportunities (Stehle & Peters-Burton, 2019). PBL opens the door for increased interdisciplinary learning, team teaching, collaborative conversations, and endless possibilities for real-world applications (Guo et al., 2020). This would provide a much needed change in our current academic climate, a change that has been proven to be an effective and valuable teaching methodology.

#### Conclusion

PBL promotes student attention/engagement by encouraging student-led learning and the assumption of ownership over their own learning experiences. PBL allows students to create relevant projects that may go beyond the classroom and into the community. Newly found or honed skills create inner confidence, greater self-efficacy, and inner trust. With the overwhelmingly positive response from teachers, there is a great need to implement PBL in more classrooms and school districts. The entire PBL journey takes students to a moment of completion where they can savor the satisfaction of lessons well-learned and a job well-done. Keller's (1987) ARCS model of motivational design has been used as an academic measuring stick for motivation in a plethora of classroom and business applications. Assessing students' levels of motivation in a PBL language arts classroom provides valuable insight into the worthiness of increasing PBL opportunities in all disciplines. Teachers indicated that the vast majority of students became actively engaged in classroom activities and their attention often continued beyond the completion of the lessons and final projects. Students took ownership of their learning not only by increased participation, but by committing to the belief that they were doing something important. Engaged students found relevance in the projects, both personally and socially. The ability to understand how projects benefitted themselves and/or the community deepened the learning experience and provided students with realworld applications. Deeper learning accompanied by greater student autonomy and the successful navigation of challenges resulted in increased confidence. Students came to recognize their capabilities in areas of problem-solving, critical thinking, collaborative efforts, and newfound skills such as artistic gifts or public speaking. Finally, the positive outcomes of these first three ARCS components resulted in overall satisfaction with the learning process and outcomes. Students felt inspired by their contributions to the community and realized a greater sense of self-worth.

As an indicator of positive social change movements, PBL creates an environment where students actively seek to make meaningful contributions to improve their classroom environment and the community at large. Interaction with businesses, social change agencies, charitable organizations, and everyday citizens generates a potential ripple effect of positive and often long-lasting transformations. Inner transformations such as increased confidence, a greater desire to serve the community, and improved communications skills are worthy attributes for students who will one day be contributors to and potential leaders of society. Public transformations such as urban beautification, food pantries, and public gardens lift communal spirits and encourage citizens to make their own positive contributions to the community.

As a motivational classroom design, PBL not only ticks all the academic competency boxes, but also provides an educational format that is enjoyable for teachers and students alike. Teachers acknowledge that initial implementation requires a great deal of administrative support, personal patience, and flexibility within the classroom. However, once the initial hurdles are dealt with, the sense of personal fulfillment and increase in academic engagement make the PBL experience a memorable one that has positive life-long implications.

#### References

- Aldabbus, S. (2018). Project-based learning: Implementation and challenges. International Journal of Education, Learning and Development, 6(3). 71–79
- Aldemir, T., Celik, B., & Kaplan, G. (2018). A qualitative investigation of student perceptions of game elements in a gamified course. *Computers in Human Behavior*, 78, 235–254. https://doi.org.10.1016/j.chb.2017.10.001.
- Alharthi, M. (2020). Students' attitudes toward the use of technology in online courses. International Journal of Technology in Education, 3(1), 14–23. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1264084.pdf
- Allison, J. M. (2018). Project based learning to promote 21st century skills: An action research study. *Dissertations, Theses, and Masters Projects*. Paper 1530192564. http://dx.doi.org/10.25774/w4-m5xm-wc95
- Alrajeh, T. S. (2021). Project-based learning to enhance pre-service teachers' teaching skills in science education. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 9(2), 271–279. https://doi.org/10.13189/ujer.2021.090202
- Al Said, R.S., Xiangyun, D., Al Khatib, H.A. H. M., Romanowski, M.H., Barham, A.I.I.
  (2019). Math teachers' beliefs, practices, and belief change in implementing problem based learning in Qatari Primary Governmental School. *EURASIA Journal of Mathematics, Science and Technology Education, 15*(5), em1710 ISSN:1305–8223 (online). https://doi.org/10.29333/ejmste/105849
- Aşiksoy, G., & Özdamli, F. (2016). Flipped classroom adapted to the ARCS model of motivation and applied to a physics course. *Eurasia Journal of Mathematics*,

Science, and Technology Education, 12(6), 1589–1603.

https://doi.org/10.12973/eurasia.2016.1251a

- Avsec, S. & Jagiello-Kowalczyk, M. (2021). Investigating possibilities of developing self-directed learning in architecture students using design thinking.
   Sustainability, 13(8), 4369. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13084369
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191
- Blair, E. (2015). A reflexive exploration of qualitative data coding techniques. Journal of Methods and Measurement in the Social Sciences, 6(1), 14–29.
   https://doi.org/10.2458/v6i1.18772
- Bloomberg, L. D., & Volpe, M. (2016). Completing your qualitative dissertation: A road map from beginning to end. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Boardman, A. G., Garcia, A., Dalton, B., & Polman, J. L. (2021). Compose our world: Project-based learning in secondary English language arts. Teachers College Press
- Boatman, A., & Long, B. T. (2017) Does remediation work for all students? How the effects of postsecondary remedial and developmental courses vary by level of academic preparation. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 40(1), 29–58, https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373717715708.
- Brand, S., & Millard, L. (2019). Student engagement in quality in UK higher education. Student Engagement and Quality Assurance in Higher Education. Taylor &

Francis Group.

- Brandmiller, C., Dumont, H., & Becker, M. (2020). Teacher perceptions of learning motivation and classroom behavior: The role of student characteristics. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 63.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101893.
- Brew, B., Shannon, C., Storey, L., Boyd, A., & Mulholland, C. (2017). A qualitative phenomenological analysis of the subjective experience and understanding of the at risk mental state. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1080/17482631.2017.1342504
- Chang, N., & Chen, H. (2015). A motivational analysis of the ARCS model for information literacy courses in a blended learning environment. *LIBRI*, 65(2), 129–142. https://doi.org/10.1515/libri-2015-0010
- Chen, C-H, & Yang Y-C. (2019). Revisiting the effects of project-based learning on students' academic achievement: A meta-analysis investigating moderators. *Educational Research Review*, 26, 71–81.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2018.11.001.

- Chen, S. Y., & Chang, L-P. (2016). The influences of cognitive styles on individual learning and collaborative learning. *Innovations in Education and Teaching International*, 53(4). 458–471. https://doi.org/10.1080/14703297.2014.931242
- Cheng, HY., Ding, QT. (2021). Examining the behavioral features of Chinese teachers and students in the learner-centered instruction. *European Journal of Psychology* of Education 36, 169–186 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10212-020-00469-2

- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. (2018). *Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed method approaches* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications
- Curseu, P. L., & Schruijer, S. (2018). Cross-level dynamics of collaboration and conflict in multi-party systems: An empirical investigation using a behavioural simulation. *Administrative Sciences*, 8(26), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.3390/admsci8030026
- Dalkin, S. Forser, N., Hodgson, P., Lhussier, M., & Carr, S. M. (2020). Using computer assisted qualitative data analysis software (CAQDAS; NVivo) to assist in the complex process of realist theory generation, refinement and testing. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 24(1). 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2020.1803528
- Deveci, T. (2018). Student perceptions on collaborative writing in a project-based course. Universal Journal of Educational Research, 6(4), 721–732.
- Dewey, J., (1916). Democracy and education: An introduction to the philosophy of education.
- Dinis-Carvalho, J., Fernandes, S., Lima, R.M., Mesquita, D., & Costa-Lobo, C. (2017). *Active learning in higher education: Developing projects in partnership with industry*. In 11th annual International Technology, Education and Development Conference INTED2017 Proceedings (pp. 1695–1704), Valencia, Espanha, 6–8.
  Disponível no Repositório UPT, http://hdl.handle.net/11328/1777
- Du, X., Chaaban, Y., Sabah, S., Al-Thani, A. M., & Wang, Li. (2020). Active learning engagement in teacher preparation programmes – A comparative study from Qatar, Lebanon and China. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 40(3), 283–298,

https://doi.org/10.1080/02188791.2020.1717436

- Duffy, T.M., Lowyck, J., & Jonassen, D.H. (1993). Designing environments for constructivist learning. New York: Springer-Verlag
- Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A social-cognitive approach to motivation and personality. *Psychological Review*, 95, 1988, p. 256–273. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-295X.95.2.256
- Englander, M. (2016). The phenomenological method in qualitative psychology and psychiatry. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-Being*, 11(1), 30682. https://doi.org/10.3402/qhw.v11.30682

Fischer, C. (2015). Project-based learning. Research Starters Education, 8.

- Fleming, M., & Levie, W. H. (1978). Instructional message design: Principles form the behavioral sciences. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Educational Technology Publications.
- Frankfort-Nachmias, C., Nachmias, D., & DeWaard, J. (2015). *Research methods in the social sciences* (8th ed.). New York: Worth.
- Galvan, S. & Greenhow, C. (2019). Writing on social media: A review of research in the high school classroom. *Tech Trends*, 64, 57–69. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11528-019-00428-9
- Gartland, L. B., & Smolkin, L. B. (2016). The histories and mysteries of grammar instruction: Supporting elementary teachers in the time of the common core. *The Reading Teacher 69*(4), 391–399. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/trtr.1408</u>
- Giorgi, A. (1997). The theory, practice, and evaluation of the phenomenological method as a qualitative research procedure. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 28,

235–260. https://doi.org/10.1163/156916297X00103.

- Goksu, I., & Bolat, Y.I. (2021). Does the ARCS motivational model affect students' achievement and motivation? A meta-analysis. *Review of Education*, 9(1). 27–52. https://doi.org/10.1002/rev3.3231.
- Gormley, D. K., Colella, C. & Shell, D. L. (2012). Motivating online learners using attention, relevance, confidence, satisfaction motivational theory and distributed scaffolding. *Nurse Educator*, 37(4), 177–180. https://doi.org/10.1097/NNE.0b013e31825a8786
- Gunawan, J. (2015). Ensuring trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Belitung Nursing Journal, 1*(1), 10–11. Retrieved from http://belitungraya.org/BRP/index.php/bnj/
- Guo, P., Saab, N., Post, L., S., & Admiraal, W. (2020). A review of project-based learning in higher education: Student outcomes and measures. *International Journal of Educational Research*, *102*. 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2020.101586

- Habok, A., & Nagy, J. (2016). In-service teachers' perceptions of project-based learning. *SpringerPlus, 5*(83). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-1725-4
- Hammarberg K., Kirkman M., & de Lacey, S. (2016) Qualitative research methods:
  When to use them and how to judge them. *Human Reproduction*, 31(3), 498–501. https://doi.org/10.1093/humrep/dev334
- Hanney, R. (2018). Doing, being, becoming: a historical appraisal of the modalities of project-based learning, *Teaching in Higher Education*, 23(6), 769783, https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2017.1421628

- Henderson, D. C., Rupley, W. H., Nichols, J. A., Nichols, W. D., & Rasinski, T. V. (2018). Triangulating teacher perception, classroom observations, and student work to evaluate secondary writing programs. *Reading & Writing Quarterly: Overcoming Learning Difficulties, 34*(1), 63–78. https://doi.org/10.1080/10573569.2017.1344941
- Henri, M., Johnson, M.D., & Nepal, B. (2017). A review of competency-based learning: Tools, assessments, and recommendations. *Journal of Engineering Education*, *106*(4). 607–638. https://doi.org/10.1002/jee.20180
- Holloway, I., & Galvin, K. (2016). *Qualitative research in nursing and healthcare*.Hoboken, NJ: Wiley & Sons.
- Hooshyar, D., Yousefi, M., & Kim, H. (2018). A procedural content generation-based framework for educational games: Toward a tailored data-driven game for developing early English reading skills. *Journal of Educational Computing Research*, 56(2). https://doi.org/10.1177/0735633117706909.
- Hou J. (2014). Project and module based teaching and learning. *International Journal of Social, Management, Economics and Business, 8*(3), 795–800
- Huang, Y-H, Huang, S-H, & Wu, T-T. (2014). Embedding diagnostic mechanisms in a digital game for learning mathematics. *Education Technical Research Development*, 62(2), 187–207. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-013-9315-4
- Huett, J. B., Young, J., Huett, K. C., Moller, L. & Bray, M. (2008). Supporting the distant student: The effect of ARCS-based strategies on confidence and performance. *The Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 9(2), 113–126.

- Husserl, E. (1970). *The crisis of European sciences and transcendental phenomenology*. Evanston, IL: Northwestern University Press.
- Husserl, E. (2017). *Ideas: General introduction to pure phenomenology*. New York, NY: The Macmillan Company
- Irawati, L. (2015). Applying cultural project based learning to develop students' academic writing. *Dinamika Ilmu*, *15*(1), 25–33.
- Johri, R. (2015). Exploring the transition from project based learning to problem based learning in design education: A tutor's perspective. *The International Journal of Learning in Higher Education*, 22(4), 79–89. https://doi.org/10.18848/1447-9494/cgp/v22i04/48633
- Kalkan, M., Deveci, D. A., Cerit, A. G., Zorba, Y. & Asyali, E. (2013). A miscellaneous adoption of problem-based, task-based, and project-based learning in higher maritime education: A case study at Dokuz Elul University Maritime Faculty. *Journal of Higher Education*, 2(3), 159–166.
- Keller, J. M. (1979). Motivation and instructional design: A theoretical perspective. Journal of Instructional Development, 2(4), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf02904345
- Keller, J. M. (1987) Development and use of the ARCS model of motivational design. Journal of Instructional Development, 10(3), 2–10.
- Keller, J. M. (1987b). The systematic process of motivational design. *Performance+ Instruction, 26*(9-10), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.4160260902B

Keller, J. M. (1999). Motivation in cyber learning environments. Educational Technology

*International*, *1*(1), 7–30.

- Keller, J. M. (2008). First principles of motivation to learn and e3-learning. *Distance Education*, *29*(2), 175–185. https://doi.org/10.1080/01587910802154970
- Keller, J. M. (2010, September). Challenges in learner motivation: A holistic, integrative model for research and design on learner motivation. In The 11th international conference on education research new educational paradigm for learning and instruction (pp. 1–18).
- Keller, J. M. (2010). Five fundamental requirements for motivation and volition in technology-assisted distributed learning environments. *Inter-Acao Goiania*, 35(2), 305–321. https://doi.org/10.5216/ia.v35i2.12668
- Keller, J. M. (2010). *Motivational design for learning and performance: The ARCS model approach*. New York, NY: Springer.
- Keller, J. M. (2016). Motivation, learning, and technology: Applying the ARCS-V motivation model. *Participatory Educational Research*, 3(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.17275/per.16.06.3.2
- Keller, J.M. (2000). How to integrate learner motivation planning into lesson planning: The ARCS model approach. Paper presented at VII Semanario, Santiago, Cuba, February 2000.
- King, E., & Boyatt, R. (2015). Exploring factors that influence adoption of e-learning within higher education. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 46(6), 1272– 1280. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjet.12195

Konrad, T., Wiek, A. & Barth, M. (2020). Embracing conflicts for interpersonal
competence development in project-based sustainability courses. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, *21*(1), 76–96. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-06-2019-0190

- Kuhl, J. (1987). Action control: The maintenance of motivational states. In F. Halisch &J. Kuhl (Eds.), *Motivation, intention and volition* (pp. 279–291). Berlin: Springer
- Kumar, R., & Refaei, B. (2017). Problem-based learning pedagogy fosters students' critical thinking about writing. *Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-Based Learning*, 11(2). https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1670
- KunLi, & Keller, J. M. (2018). Use of the ARCS model in education: A literature review.
   *Computers & Education*, 122, 54–62.
   https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.03.019
- Lancaster, A., Tucker King, C. S. & Rauch, S. (2022). Collaboration models for programmatic development: Stakeholder engagement in program design, growth, and assessment. *Programmatic Perspectives*, 13(2), 2–10. Retrieved from

https://programmaticperspectives.cptsc.org/index.php/jpp/article/view/20

- Lee, J. S., Blackwell, S., Drake, J. & Moran, K. A. (2014). Taking a leap of faith: Redefining teaching and learning in higher education through project-based learning. *The Interdisciplinary Journal of Problem-based Learning*, 8(2), 2. https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1426
- Lewin, K. (1938). *The conceptual representation and measurement of psychological forces.* Durham, NC: Duke University Press

Lozano, R., Merrill, M.Y., Sammalisto, K., Ceulemans, K., & Lozano, F.J. (2017).

Connecting competences and pedagogical approaches for sustainable development in higher education: A literature review and framework proposal. *Sustainability*, *9*, 1889. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101889

- Malik, S. (2014). Effectiveness of ARCS model of motivational design to overcome non completion rate of students in distance education. *Turkish Online Journal of Distance Education*, 15(2), 194–200.
- Manganelli, S., Cavicchiolo, E., Mallia, L., Biasi, V., Lucidi, F., & Alivernini, F.
  (2019) The interplay between self-determined motivation, self-regulated cognitive strategies, and prior achievement in predicting academic performance, *Educational Psychology*, *39*(4), 470–488, https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2019.1572104
- Maxwell, J. A. (2013) *Qualitative research design: An interactive approach* (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- McMahon, M., Watson, M., & Lee, M. (2019). Qualitative career assessment: A review and reconsideration. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, *110*(B), 420–432, ISSN 0001-8791. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2018.03.009.
- Meral, D., Sevgi, T., & Derya, O. (2016). Medical students' self-efficacy in problembased learning and its relationship with self-regulated learning, *Medical Education Online*, 21(1), 30049. https://doi.org/10.3402/meo.v21.30049
- Merriam, S. B. (2009). Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

Merriam, S., & Tisdell, E. (2016). Qualitative research: A guide to design and

implementation (4th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

- Merrill, M. D. (2002). First principles of instruction. Educational Technology, *Research and Development*, 50(3), 43–59. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02505024
- Miles, M. B., Huberman, A. M., & Saldaña, J. (2014). *Qualitative data analysis: A methods sourcebook*. (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mishra, P. & Mehta, R. (2017). What we educators get wrong about 21<sup>st</sup>-century learning: Results of a survey. *Journal of Digital Learning in Teacher Education*, 33(1), 6–19. https://doi.org/10.1080/21532974.2016.124392
- Neubauer, B. E., Witkop, C. T., & Varpio, L. (2019). How phenomenology can help us learn from the experiences of others. *Perspectives on Medical Education*, 8. 90– 97. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40037-0190509-2.
- O'Leary, Z. (2017). *The essential guide to doing your research project*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2015). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Provenzano, N. (2019). Beyond the poster board: Project-based learning in the English language arts classroom. Salem, OR: Blend Education
- Ravitch, S. M., & Carl, N. M. (2016). *Qualitative research: Bridging the conceptual, theoretical, and methodological.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Remley, T. P., Jr., & Herlihy, B. (2014). Ethical, legal, and professional issues in counseling. (4<sup>th</sup> Ed.) Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.

Reynolds, R., & Mayweather, D. (2017). Recounting racism, resistance, and repression:

Examining the experiences and #hashtag activism of college students with critical race theory and counternarratives. *The Journal of Negro Education*, *86*(3), 283–304.

- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Rudestam, K. E. & Newton, R. R. (2015). *Surviving your dissertation*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Saldaña, J. (2016). *The coding manual for qualitative researchers* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Saunders, B., Sim, J., Kingstone, T., Baker, S. W., Bartlam, B. B., & Jinks, C. (2018). Saturation in qualitative research: exploring its conceptualization and operationalization. *Quality & Quantity*, 52, 1893–1907. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-017-0574-8
- Seidel, T., Schnitler, K., Kosel, C., Sturmer, K., & Holzberger, D. (2020). Student characteristics in the eyes of teachers: Differences between novice and expert teacher in judgment accuracy, observed behavioral cues, and gaze. *Educational Psychology Review, 33*, 69–89. http://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-020-09532-2
- Sepp, S., Howard, S.J., Tindall-Ford, S., Agostinho, S., & Paas, F. (2019). Cognitive load theory and human movement: Towards an integrated model of working memory. *Educational Psychology Review*, *31*, 293–317. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09461-9

Shadiev, R. & Sintawati, W. (2020). A review of research on intercultural learning

supported by technology. *Educational Research Review*, (31). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2020.100338

- Simon, M. K., & Goes, J. (2013). Scope, limitations, and delimitations. *Studylib*. Retrieved from https://studylib.net/doc/8312010/scope--limitations--anddelimitations.
- Simsek, A. (2014). Interview with John M. Keller on motivational design of instruction. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1105558.pdf
- Stahnke, R. & Blomeke, S. (2021). Novice and expert teachers' situation-specific skills regarding classroom management: What do they perceive, interpret and suggest? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103243
- Stehle, S. M., & Peters-Burton, E.E. (2019). Developing student 21<sup>st</sup> century skills in selected exemplary inclusive STEM high schools. *International Journal of STEM Education, 6*(39), 1–15, doi.org/10.1186/s40594-019-0192-1.
- Swart, A.J. (2018). Self-directed learning fashionable among all first-year African engineering students? *Global Journal of Engineering Education, 20*(1),
- Tadesse, S.G., Tadesse, D.G. & Dagnaw, E.H. (2022). Problem based learning approach increases the academic satisfaction of health science students in Ethiopian universities: A comparative cross sectional study. *BMC Med Educ 22*(334). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-022-03397-5

Tolman, E.C. (1932). Purposive behavior in animals and men. New York: Century.

Tomlinson, E. (2017). Enhancing Student Learning Through Scaffolded Client Projects. Business and Professional Communication Quarterly, 80(1), 29–51. https://doi.org/10.1177/2329490616677045

Vegas, E. & Winthrop, R. (2020). Global education: How to transform school systems?
 *Reimagining the Global Economy: Building Back Better in a Post-COVID-19 World*. 97–103. Retrieved from https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED610536.pdf

Verger, A., Parcerisa, L., Fontdevila, C. (2018). The growth and spread of large-scale assessments and test-based accountabilities: A political sociology of global education reform. *Educational Review*, 71(1). 5–30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1522045.

- Virtue, E. E. & Hinnant-Crawford, B. N. (2019). "We're doing something meaningful": Student perspectives of project-based learning across the disciplines. *IUScholarWorks Journals, 13*(2). https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1809
- Wahyudi, S., Joyoatmojo, S. & Sawiji, H. (2017). Learning model of attention, relevance, confidence, satisfaction (ARCS) supported by video tutorial to improve the students' learning motivation in vocational high school. *Advances in Social Science, Education and Humanities Research (ASSEHR*), 158, 603–611.
- Wan-Chen, C., Chang-Yen, L., & Tak-Wai, C. (2021) Improving children's textual cohesion and writing attitude in a game-based writing environment. Computer Assisted Language Learning, 34(1-2), 133–158.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09588221.2019.1671459

Weiling, Z., & Qian, X. (2018) Facilitate active learning: The role of perceived benefits of using technology, *Journal of Education for Business*, *93*(3), 88–96, https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2018.1425281

- Weiner, B. (1974). *Achievement motivation attribution theory*. Morristown, N.J.: General Learning Press.
- Weiss, D. M. & Belland, B. R. (2016). Transforming schools using project-based learning, performance assessment, and common core standards. *IUScholar Works Journals, 10*(2). https://doi.org/10.7771/1541-5015.1663
- Wiek, A., Xiong, A., Brundiers, K., & Van Der Leeuw, S. (2014). Integrating problemand project-based learning into sustainability programs: A case study on the School of Sustainability at Arizona State University. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 15(4), 431–449. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-02-2013-0013
- Wu, CH., Liu, CH. & Huang, YM. (2022). The exploration of continuous learning intention in STEAM education through attitude, motivation, and cognitive load. *International Journal STEM Ed, 9*(35). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40594-022-00346-y
- Zimmer, W. K. & Matthews, S. D. (2022). A virtual coaching model of professional development to increase teachers' digital learning competencies. *Teaching and Teacher Education, 109.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2021.103544.
- Zuckerman, M. (1971). Dimensions of sensation seeking. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *36*(1), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0030478

## **Appendix A: Participation Invitation Letter (Email)**

Dear Invitee,

My name is Elizabeth Merrell Gross. I am a doctoral student a Walden University in the Education Program. I would like to request your participation in a doctoral research study I am conducting entitled: High School Language Arts Teachers' Perceptions of Students' Motivation to Learn in a Project-Based Learning Class. I would like to explore teacher perceptions of their project-based learning language arts class. The study involves interviews, which will be face-to-face or via virtual conferencing platform, depending on our mutual locations, and follow-up reflection emails.

Participation is voluntary and participants may withdraw at any time. Confidentiality is ensured and no names or identifying information will be included in the study.

If you would like to participate in the study, please read the attached Letter of Consent.

Your participation in the research will be of great importance to better understand how teachers perceive students' motivation in a project-based learning high school language arts class. The information gathered may assist teachers and administrators in the quest to meet the needs of students in their educational endeavors.

Thank you for your time and participation.

Sincerely,

Elizabeth Merrell Gross, M.F.A., Doctoral Student, Walden University

## **Appendix B: Interview Questions**

Research Question: What are teachers' perceptions of student motivation in a high school PBL language arts class?

- 1. How do you use project-based learning in your class?
- 2. How long have you been using project-based learning?
- 3. Give me an example of a time when project-based learning created an experience that students couldn't have had any other way.
- 4. Overall, how would you describe your experiences with using project-based learning in your classroom?
- Give me some examples where students' projects positively affected some aspects of learning in your classes.
- 6. What is the most challenging component of project-based learning in your classroom?
- 7. Name one aspect of PBL you feel students enjoy. Why?
- 8. Name one aspect of PBL you feel your students would want to change. Why?
- 9. Thinking about your project-based learning experiences, tell me a story about a time when you could tell students were engaged with their subject
- 10. How is student engagement different when you use project-based learning?
- 11. How do students personalize their projects to make them more relevant?
- 12. What have you noticed about student confidence as they complete their projects?
- 13. How would you describe students' levels of satisfaction when they are finished with their projects?